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Applicant Information

School Name Highland Prep
School Address 15600 W Hearn Road Surprise
School City Surprise
School Zip Code 85379
Phone Number (623) 300-8385

Contact Information

First Name Kerry

Last Name Clark
Contact Email kclark@madisonhighlandprep.org
Contact Phone (623) 300-8385

File Link

Drop Box Link https://www.dropbox.com/home/Highland%20Prep%20Appraisal

Achievement District Qualiﬁcation

Proving Receipt of Letter Grade of A or equivalent. Yes, the undersigned certiﬁes that the Applicant school has
achieved a current grade of A. For charter schools, by checking yes, the undersigned further certiﬁes that the
applicant school is in material compliance with all requirements and their charter is not subject to revocation.
Letter Grade of A File Highland Prep-letter-grade-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-letter-grade-sid-16.pdf)
Instructional Strategies and Curricula See attachment
Instructional Strategies and Curricula File Highland Prep-strategy-curricula-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-strategy-curricula-sid-16.pdf)
Enrollment Demand Yes, the undersigned certiﬁes that the school has demonstrated a veriﬁable enrollment
demand.
Enrollment Demand Methodology See attachment
Enrollment Demand File Highland Prep-enrollment-demand-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-enrollment-demand-sid-16.pdf)
Partnership with Underperforming School See attachment
Partnership with Underperforming School File Highland Prep-partnership-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-partnership-sid-16.pdf)
Poverty Indicators See attachment
Poverty Indicators File Highland Prep-poverty-indicators-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-poverty-indicators-sid-16.pdf)

Financial Information

Financial Statements See attachment
Financial Statements File Highland Prep-ﬁnancial-statement-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-ﬁnancial-statement-sid-16.pdf)
Current Year Budget See attachment
Current Year Budget File Highland Prep-budget-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-budget-sid-16.pdf)
Debt Ratio Statement See attachment
Debt Ratio Statement File Highland Prep-debt-ratio-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-debt-ratio-sid-16.pdf)

Public Charter School Applicants

Charter Board Directors & Senior Staff See attachment
Charter Board Directions & Senior Staff File Highland Prep-board-staff-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-board-staff-sid-16.pdf)
Charter Litigation See attachment
Charter Litigation File Highland Prep-litigation-ﬁle-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-litigation-ﬁle-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Cash Flow Statement See attachment
Charter School Cash Flow Statement File Highland Prep-cashﬂow-statement-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-cashﬂow-statement-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Enrollment See attachment
Charter School Enrollment File Highland Prep-enrollment-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-enrollment-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Liquidity Statement See attachment
Charter School Liquidity Statement File Highland Prep-liquidity-statement-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-liquidity-statement-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Debt Rating See attachment

Charter School Debt Rating File Highland Prep-debt-rating-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-debt-rating-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Outstanding Debt See attachment
Charter School Outstanding Debt File Highland Prep-debt-outstanding-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-debt-outstanding-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Academic Outcomes and Operations See attachment
Charter School Academic Outcomes and Operations File Highland Prep-academic-outcomes-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-academic-outcomes-sid-16.pdf)
Charter School Personal Beneﬁt Disclosure See attachment
Charter School Personal Beneﬁt Disclosure File Highland Prep-personal-disclosure-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-personal-disclosure-sid-16.pdf)
Debt Reserve Yes, the proposed ﬁnancing will include a fully funded debt service reserve equal to at least the maximum
amount permitted by federal law in connection with the issuance of tax exempt obligations securing all series of enhanced
bonds, whether tax-exempt or otherwise.

Guaranteed Financing

Financial Timeline See attachment
Financial Timeline File Highland Prep-ﬁnancial-timeline-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-ﬁnancial-timeline-sid-16.pdf)
Use of Guaranteed Financing See attachment
Use of Guaranteed Financing File Highland Prep-guaranteed-ﬁnancing-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-guaranteed-ﬁnancing-sid-16.pdf)
Collateral Property Identiﬁcation
See attachment for a summary and the dropbox location for the full appraisal. The dropbox ﬁle access was given to
the email address: GOE@az.gov
Collateral Property Identiﬁcation File Highland Prep-collateral-property-sid-16.pdf
(https://education.azgovernor.gov/system/ﬁles/Highland%20Prep-collateral-property-sid-16.pdf)
Financing Team (BC) Warren Charter Law; (I) Maricopa Cty IDA; (BoC) Engelman Berger; (U) B.C. Ziegler
Teacher Turnover Rates See attachment
Teacher Turnover Rates File
Parent/Teacher Survey Results See attachment

Parent/Teacher Survey Results File

Attestation Yes, the applicant has read and reviewed the sample Terms and Conditions form.
Discrepencies N/A

Conﬁrm Accuracy and Completeness

By checking yes below, the applicant conﬁrms that the accuracy and completeness of the information in this
application has been certiﬁed by the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer or Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of the School.
Yes, the information in this application is accurate, complete, and has been veriﬁed by the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer or
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of the School.

LETTER GRADE OF A

Highland Prep earned and was issued a letter grade of “A” by the State of Arizona for the 2017-2018
school year. See the “Accountability: A-F Letter Grade” acknowledgment attached. Subsequent to the
issuance of the “A” letter grade, the Arizona Department of Education (“ADE”) made a statewide policy
decision that schools in their first year of operation would not be issued letter grades. Based upon this
new policy, the ADE replaced the previously-issued letter grades for new schools with an indication that
the school was a “New School” that was not eligible for a letter grade.
Madison Highland Prep earned and was issued a letter grade of “A” by the State of Arizona for the 20162017 and 2017-2018 school years. See the “Accountability: A-F Letter Grade” acknowledgments attached.
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Nine Thru 12 Category Summary - A_FLetterGrades

Accountability: A-F Letter Grades

Welcome Steven Mack!

Highland Prep
Home (/FY2018/) / A-F Summary

School A-F Letter Grade = A
Highland Prep (703390)

Category

Weight

Points

Proficiency

30%

29.18

Growth

20%

20.00

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

Graduation Rate

20%

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Score†

20%

Total Bonus Points

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary

2.00
All Students Total Points

51.18

Total Points Eligible

50.00

Percentage Earned

102.4%

Percent Tested*

0.00%

A-F Letter Grade

A
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Proficiency

30%

View Data
(/FY2018/Proficiency)

Test

%

ELA Grade 9

96.00%

ELA Grade 10
ELA Grade 11
Algebra I

96.91%

Algebra II

107.5%

Geometry

110.9%

MSAA ELA
MSAA Math
Percent Proficient All Students
Total Proficiency Points

29.18

Growth

20%

View Data
(/FY2018/Growth)

SGP ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)
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Prior Year Highly
Proficient

1.75%

1.75%

3.51%

Prior Year Proficient

5.26%

22.81%

19.30%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

0.00%

8.77%

7.02%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

0.00%

5.26%

24.56%

SGP ELA Points

6.35

SGP Math Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

1.52%

9.09%

22.73%

Prior Year Proficient

0.00%

6.06%

22.73%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

3.03%

1.52%

16.67%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

1.52%

3.03%

12.12%

SGP Math Points

6.20

SGT ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

1.75%

0.00%

5.26%

Prior Year Proficient

5.26%

10.53%

31.58%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

1.75%

7.02%

7.02%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

7.02%

15.79%

7.02%

SGT ELA Points

5.16

SGT Math Growth (5%)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

0.00%

1.75%

29.82%

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary
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Prior Year Proficient

0.00%

1.75%

22.81%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

5.26%

1.75%

17.54%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

8.77%

3.51%

7.02%

SGT Math Points

5.58

Total Growth Points

20.00

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

View Data
(/FY2018/EL)

Total EL Proficiency Points
Total EL Growth Points
EL Proficiency and Growth Points

Graduation Rate

20%

4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate
Current Year

%

10%
Weight

4

5

5

4

6

2.5

7

.50

Points Earned

4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate Points
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement
Prior Year

10%
%

Points Earned

4
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement Points

Graduation Rate Total Points

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary
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College and Career Ready - Self-Report Score

20%

Metric

Weight

Self-Report CCR Points

20

Points Earned

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Total Points†
College and Career Ready data was self-reported by the LEA/school. For specific details on how these points
were earned, you must contact a local administrator. ADE did not calculate the points for this component of
the letter grade.

Special Education Bonus Points

School %

80% of State Average

State Average

Points

14.93%

8.23%

10.29%

2.00

39.16%

0.00

Science Assessment Bonus Points

The three point value for the Science Assessment Bonus Points can be found in the Business Rules.
Total Score
A

B

C

D

F

83.83-100%

70.02-83.82%

56.21-70.01%

42.40-56.20%

<42.39%

A-F Letter Grade

A

Note: NA indicates there were fewer than 10 FAY students in the calculation and therefore the school is not
eligible for the points.
†Points include CCRI bonus, if earned.
Copyright © 2017 Arizona Department of Education. All rights reserved.
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Accountability: A-F Letter Grades

Welcome Steven Mack!

Madison Highland Prep
Home (/FY2018/) / A-F Summary

School A-F Letter Grade = A
Madison Highland Prep (92605)

Category

Weight

Points

Proficiency

30%

23.60

Growth

20%

18.74

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

Graduation Rate

20%

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Score†

20%

Total Bonus Points

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary

20.00
0.00

All Students Total Points

62.34

Total Points Eligible

70.00

Percentage Earned

89.06%

Percent Tested*

92.86%

A-F Letter Grade

A
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Proficiency

30%

View Data
(/FY2018/Proficiency)

Test

%

ELA Grade 9

81.19%

ELA Grade 10

72.48%

ELA Grade 11

69.08%

Algebra I

82.83%

Algebra II

77.92%

Geometry

88.43%

MSAA ELA
MSAA Math
Percent Proficient All Students
Total Proficiency Points

23.60

Growth

20%

View Data
(/FY2018/Growth)

SGP ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)
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Prior Year Highly
Proficient

6.58%

4.82%

5.70%

Prior Year Proficient

11.40%

13.60%

21.49%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

3.51%

6.14%

11.40%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

4.39%

3.95%

7.02%

SGP ELA Points

4.73

SGP Math Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

4.42%

11.60%

16.02%

Prior Year Proficient

4.42%

8.84%

25.97%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

2.76%

4.42%

11.05%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

2.21%

2.76%

5.52%

SGP Math Points

5.29

SGT ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

0.44%

3.07%

13.60%

Prior Year Proficient

13.16%

9.21%

24.12%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

8.77%

3.51%

8.77%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

10.53%

4.39%

0.44%

SGT ELA Points

3.97

SGT Math Growth (5%)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

0.68%

1.35%

23.65%

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary
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Prior Year Proficient

5.41%

3.38%

31.76%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

6.76%

5.41%

8.78%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

8.11%

4.05%

0.68%

SGT Math Points

4.66

Total Growth Points

18.74

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

View Data
(/FY2018/EL)

Total EL Proficiency Points
Total EL Growth Points
EL Proficiency and Growth Points

Graduation Rate

20%

4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate
Current Year

%

10%
Weight

4

5

5

4

6

2.5

7

.50

Points Earned

4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate Points
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement
Prior Year

10%
%

Points Earned

4
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement Points

Graduation Rate Total Points

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2018/CategorySummary
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College and Career Ready - Self-Report Score

20%

Metric

Weight

Self-Report CCR Points

20

Points Earned

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Total Points†

20.00

College and Career Ready data was self-reported by the LEA/school. For specific details on how these points
were earned, you must contact a local administrator. ADE did not calculate the points for this component of
the letter grade.
School %

80% of State Average

State Average

Points

Special Education Bonus Points

5.00%

8.23%

10.29%

0.00

Science Assessment Bonus Points

31.43%

39.16%

0.00

The three point value for the Science Assessment Bonus Points can be found in the Business Rules.
Total Score
A

B

C

D

F

83.83-100%

70.02-83.82%

56.21-70.01%

42.40-56.20%

<42.39%

A-F Letter Grade

A

Note: NA indicates there were fewer than 10 FAY students in the calculation and therefore the school is not
eligible for the points.
†Points include CCRI bonus, if earned.
Copyright © 2017 Arizona Department of Education. All rights reserved.
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Accountability: A-F Letter Grades

Welcome Steven Mack!

Madison Highland Prep
Home (/FY2017/) / A-F Summary

School A-F Letter Grade = A
Madison Highland Prep (92605)

Category

Weight

Points

Proficiency

30%

24.22

Growth

20%

18.17

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

Graduation Rate

20%

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Scaled Score

20%

SPED Bonus Points

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2017//CategorySummary

0.00
All Students Total Points

42.40

Total Points Eligible

50.00

Percentage Earned

84.79%

Percent Tested*

60.71%

A-F Letter Grade

A
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Proficiency

30%
Test

View Data
(/FY2017/Proficiency)
%

ELA Grade 5
Math Grade 5
ELA Grade 6
Math Grade 6
ELA Grade 7
Math Grade 7
ELA Grade 8
Math Grade 8
Science Grade 8
ELA Grade 9

97.33%

ELA Grade 10

77.52%

ELA Grade 11

69.81%

Algebra I

99.83%

Algebra II

86.39%

Geometry

73.61%

Science Grade 10

69.85%

MSAA ELA
MSAA Math
https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2017//CategorySummary
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Percent Proficient All Students

80.56%

Total Proficiency Points

24.22

Growth

20%

View Data
(/FY2017/Growth)

SGP ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

3.27%

7.48%

6.54%

Prior Year Proficient

8.88%

13.55%

17.76%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

2.80%

10.28%

19.16%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

1.40%

3.27%

5.61%

SGP ELA Points

4.97

SGP Math Growth (5%)
Current Year Low
Growth (SGP 0-33)

Current Year Average
Growth (SGP 34-66)

Current Year High
Growth (67-99)

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

8.51%

6.38%

9.22%

Prior Year Proficient

4.96%

17.02%

28.37%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

3.55%

7.09%

11.35%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

0.00%

1.42%

2.13%

SGP Math Points

4.54

SGT ELA Growth (5%)
Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

1.40%

0.93%

14.95%

Prior Year Proficient

7.94%

12.62%

19.63%

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2017//CategorySummary
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Prior Year Partially
Proficient

10.75%

7.48%

14.02%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

5.14%

0.93%

4.21%

SGT ELA Points

4.46

SGT Math Growth (5%)
Current Year Below
Target

Current Year At or Near
Target

Current Year Exceeds
Target

Prior Year Highly
Proficient

3.25%

5.69%

10.57%

Prior Year Proficient

5.69%

12.20%

33.33%

Prior Year Partially
Proficient

10.57%

7.32%

7.32%

Prior Year Minimally
Proficient

2.44%

0.81%

0.81%

SGT Math Points

4.21

Total Growth Points

18.17

EL Proficiency and Growth

10%

View Data
(/FY2017/EL)

Total EL Proficiency Points
Total EL Growth Points
EL Proficiency and Growth Points

Graduation Rate

20%

4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate
Current Year

%

10%
Weight

4

5

5

4

6

2.5

7

.50

https://a-flettergrades.azed.gov/FY2017//CategorySummary
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4-, 5-, 6-, 7-year Graduation Rate Points
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement

10%

Prior Year

%

Points Earned

4
4-year Graduation Rate Improvement Points

Graduation Rate Total Points

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Scaled Score

20%

Metric

Weight

Self-Report CCR Points

20

Points Earned

College and Career Ready - Self-Report Total Scaled Points
College and Career Ready data was self-reported by the LEA/school. For specific details on how these points
were earned, you must contact a local administrator. ADE did not calculate the points for this component of
the letter grade; we only scaled what was submitted to the 20% weighting.
A-F Letter Grade

A

Total Score
A

B

C

D

F

83.83-100%

70.02-83.82%

56.21-70.01%

42.40-56.20%

<42.39%

* 95% tested is being provided, however it does not alter or contribute to the letter grade
*NA indicates there were fewer than 20 FAY students in the calculation and therefore the school is not eligible
for the points.
Copyright © 2017 Arizona Department of Education. All rights reserved.
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A.1 Educational Philosophy_______________________________________________________
Mission Statement:
Madison Highland Prep (“MHP’”) and Highland Prep (“HP” and, together with MHP, the “Schools”) are
Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (“STEM”) college-preparatory high schools. The Schools
feature rigorous academic programs with an emphasis on 21st century preparation defined by critical
thinking and inquiry learning. The Schools believe in tying course content to interrelated themes to
increases relevance and application in the interest of preparing students to succeed in the future global
arena.
Vision:
The Schools will create opportunities for students and families to develop critical thinking skills that will
ensure that they become successful members of an increasingly innovation-driven society and global
marketplace.
A. Philosophical Approach
The Schools’ philosophical approach to improving student achievement is founded on the belief that:
1. Students must develop critical thinking skills and become college ready in order to succeed in
the global marketplace.
2. Exposing our students to Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (“STEM”) and Advanced
Placement (“AP”) programming will increase their college and career readiness.
3. Personalizing education for each student and providing high quality formative instruction and
assessment will lead to higher growth and greater academic success for our students.
1. Students must develop critical thinking skills and become college ready in order to succeed
in the global marketplace.
The Schools believe that creativity, innovation, thinking, problem solving, communication, and
collaboration are key skills that will characterize students who are prepared for the 21st century
(Ontario Principals Council, 2009). The Schools’ also believe that preparing young adults to
develop critical thinking skills will better ensure that they become successful members of an
increasingly innovation-driven society and global marketplace. The Schools’ believe that college
and career readiness are two of the most important determinants of a school’s success. College
and career readiness may be measured by a school’s ability to transition its graduates to
postsecondary education without remediation (Bray, Green, & Kay, 2010). Yet, very few K–12
schools can meet this goal for all students today. “Most schools have neither the expectations nor
the measures, neither the instructional programs nor the learning environments, to equip
students with the knowledge and skills they need to compete and succeed in a global economy”
(Bray, Green, & Kay, 2010).
The Schools are committed to the belief that all of their respective students must attain college readiness.
The Schools’ measure college readiness by the rigor of their academic programs and by the percentage of
students who:

participate in Honors classes

participate in the Advanced Placement Curriculum

meet 4-year college prerequisites

enter a four-college or university

complete a 4-year college degree

2. Exposing students to Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM) and the Advanced
Placement (AP) Curriculum will Increase their College and Career Readiness.
The Schools’ have established a comprehensive STEM program since only a small fraction of Arizona
college graduates, 8.9 percent, enter STEM fields. Further, only 23.3 percent of Arizona students who
enter and graduate from STEM programs in college are minority students (U.S. Dept. of Education, 2011).
One of the four zip codes that MHP targets for enrollment, 85019, has a minority index that is higher than
the state average at 83 percent compared with 25 percent statewide. Similarly, in zip code 85017 the
minority index is 82 percent, in zip code 85015 the minority index is 67 percent, percent and in zip code
85013 the minority index is 41 percent, again compared with the 25 percent statewide (zipatlas.com,
2013). Therefore, the need for a quality STEM high school program in the community is especially acute.
Similarly, HP is targeting students for the STEM program.
The achievement gap between U.S. students and foreign students has been defined by the number of
students pursuing degrees in math, science, engineering, and technology. According to the findings in the
2005 National Academies report, titled Rising Above the Gathering Storm: Energizing and Employing
America for a Brighter Economic Future, in South Korea 38 percent of all undergraduates receive their
degrees in natural science or engineering. In France, the figure is 47 percent, in China, 50 percent, and in
Singapore, 67 percent. In the U.S., the corresponding figure is 15 percent. Some 34 percent of doctoral
degrees in natural sciences, and 56 percent of engineering PhDs in the U.S. are awarded to foreign-born
students (National Academies, 2009). A recent U.S. Department of Commerce report projected that in the
decade leading up to 2018, STEM occupations will grow by 17 percent, compared with 9.8 percent growth
for all other occupations. Further, across the nation, there are reportedly 3.6 people for every one job;
whereas, in STEM fields, there is one person for every 1.9 jobs (U.S. Dept. of Commerce, 2011). In light of
this achievement gap in American students entering STEM fields, and the apparent future need; a highquality STEM college preparatory school will provide the local community with an opportunity for their
children to prepare and qualify for such programs and career paths and ultimately a bright future. The
Schools offer a comprehensive STEM program that exposes its students to collaborative projects that
reflect current and future college and workplace dynamics.
Another important challenge for America’s students is the need to develop the ability to apply their
knowledge efficiently, to think critically, analyze, synthesize and make inferences (Gijbels & Dochy, 2006).
The Schools believe that the best way to ensure that their respective students acquire these skills is
through exposure to a rigorous curriculum. The Schools’ rigorous curriculum includes honors and AP
classes since students who participate in the AP curriculum have increased high school graduation and
college completion rates (College Board, 2007) over those who do not. In fact, In a study commissioned
by the College Board, University of Texas researchers Linda L. Hargrove and Barbara Dodd, along with
Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board researcher Donn Godin compared students who graduated
from high school from 1998 to 2002 and enrolled at public colleges and universities in Texas, provided
strong support for AP benefits over non-AP experiences for students and their subsequent GPA, credits
earned and graduation performance (College Board, 2007).
In the study, students were compared who took at least one AP course and the associated exam, those
who took an AP course but elected not to take the test, and those who didn’t take any AP classes at all.
To control for other factors that could affect college outcomes, the study only compared students who
had similar SAT scores and similar participation status in the national school lunch program, which is used
in public schools for Title I program funding based on poverty guidelines. The study found that 40 percent
of students who graduated from high school in 2001 and who took the AP English Language and
Composition course and exam in high school completed college in four years (College Board, 2007). While
25 percent of students who took only that AP course graduated within that time frame, only 20 percent

of students who took a standard high school curriculum finished in that time frame (College Board, 2007).
Overall, students who take AP courses in high school were found to be more likely to graduate from
college within four years and have higher grade point averages in college than similar students who are
not exposed to such classes (College Board, 2007).
Even more important were the implications of taking rigorous coursework in high school on high school
graduation rates. In the same College Board study (2007), it was found that students who took an AP class
had a 40 percent greater likelihood of graduating from high school. Even if a student was found to have
failed an AP class, he or she was found to have a 25 percent greater likelihood of finishing a college degree
due to the exposure to college-level rigor. The Schools believe that the implications are clear;
opportunities increase for students who are exposed to rigorous coursework, through the AP curriculum.
The Schools’ administrative team has a demonstrated track record for exposing its students to AP
coursework as evidenced by their previous school recognition by the ADE in ranking 11th in Arizona (2011)
for student participation in the AP curriculum. The Schools offer a rigorous pre-AP program for English
and Math through Spring Board. Through exposure to this curriculum, students are better prepared, and
encouraged to participate in AP coursework.
3. Personalizing education for each student and providing high quality formative instruction and
assessment will lead to higher growth and greater academic success for our students.
The Schools ensure that each student participates in the creation of a personalized education plan (“PEP”)
uniquely tailored to his or her own learning needs and goals. Encouraging students to take an active
interest in their own education is essential. At least as important, is that true personalization requires that
a “learning program and approach [are] specifically tailored to the abilities, interests, preferences, and
other needs of the individual student, and that such considerations are driven by individual data at the
classroom level (Wolf, 2010).
All new students at the Schools participate in an administrator/student/parent intake meeting. Prior to
the meeting each student is assigned a diagnostic assessment for Reading and Math to help the
administrative team establish a baseline from which to schedule classes, prescribe remediation, targeted
intervention, identify enrichment opportunities, and to measure future (longitudinal) growth. In addition
to previous school data, a rubric for each test will assist the administrative team in determining student
needs. Where applicable, students may be placed in remedial classes and or, assigned to the Future
Freshmen Academy, various workshops, tutoring with teachers, or online tutoring. Student test data and
transcript analysis also assists in determining enrichment opportunities, which may include honors and
AP classes. Again, through this process, students will be assigned classes based on their academic history,
graduation needs, as well as student and parent feedback. The meeting process initiates the start of the
PEP. Each student has unique characteristics, strengths and areas in need of remediation and enrichment.
Each student’s data is tracked on datasheets that are updated by a specific grade level tracker (Holcomb,
2004). For example, freshmen students are tracked by one faculty member whose responsibility is to
ensure that all freshmen are kept on track with their freshmen goals, which are articulated in their fouryear graduation plan, which is a part of their PEP. Similarly, all sophomore students are tracked by a
particular advisor, as are upper classmen.
Weekly grades at the Schools’ are tracked by each advisor and are accessible to parents via the school's
Canvas portal accessed through the school's website. Teachers report students who are missing
assignments or doing poorly on tests to administration, via email and administration meets with each
student individually, in order to determine a course of action aimed at remediating the situation. When
academic challenges arise, it is standard practice for students to stay after school with a particular teacher
that day and in some cases over a period of days until the missing work is completed or weak skill sets are

remediated (Ouchi, 2009). These one-on-one meetings are tracked and a disposition is shared with the
referring teacher and parents (Johnson, 2002). In one of HP’s administrative team’s previous schools, the
assignment completion rate steadily improved after the aforementioned practice was initiated during the
second quarter of the 2008-2009 school year. As a result, the failure rate at the school was reduced by
10% over the following two years. The Schools’ administrative teams have followed this practice to this
very day. The practice also assists grade level advisors in keeping their students on track with their PEPs,
which includes their year-long class schedule, as well as protecting each student’s G.P.A. and progress
towards graduation. The Schools’ administrative team has found PEPs helpful in building efficacy with
parents and students by demystifying the learning process and giving parents a reason to support the
Schools with their child's progress (McEwan, 2003).
Formative Instruction and Assessment: Formative instructional and assessment practices have been
increasingly viewed as providing information necessary to personalize education for each student, by
providing timely information to be used in personalizing instruction (Wolk, 2011). The Schools utilize
formative instruction and assessment as their primary instructional vehicle since it has a proven track
record for generating significant growth with all students, and particularly with those who struggle or are
behind (Black & Wiliam, 1998b, Popham, 2007). It is important to make a distinction between the
commonly understood definition of formative assessment as “a process by which “student’s results are
gathered in time to ensure that instruction is malleable enough to introduce changes” (Scriven, 1967).
Based on an extensive review of empirical research studies on classroom assessment, carried out by
British researchers Black and Wiliam in 1998, formative assessment gained world-wide attention when it
was revealed that when properly executed in the classroom, formative assessment helps students learn
what is being taught at a deeper conceptual level. The argument they made was supported with evidence
from their meta-analysis in which they concluded that student gains in learning resulting from formative
assessment were “amongst the largest ever reported for educational interventions” (Black & Wiliam,
1998, p. 61). Further, that when properly executed in the classroom, formative assessment will help
students learn what is being taught to a substantially better degree. (p.61)
Black and Wiliam’s meta-analysis was commented on by leading educational experts from several nations.
The meta-analysis essentially featured nine years’ worth of research reports and used two earlier
extensive reviews (Crooks, 1988) as starting points. Black and Wiliam were able to identify 681
publications that seemed significant to their review. From those 681 reports, 250 were used in the final
meta-analysis. The studies they considered were diverse in nature: carried out by researchers in several
nations, involving students ranging from 5-year-olds to undergraduates, and focused on a variety of
subject fields. (Popham, 2008, p. 19) Based on their meta-analysis, Black and Wiliam reported typical
effect sizes of between 0.4 and 0.7 in favor of students taught in classrooms where formative assessment
was employed. Such effect sizes, the two meta-analysts observe, “are larger than most of those found for
other interventions” (Black & Wiliam, 1998b, p. 141).
Formative Assessment Re-defined: Black and Wiliam defined formative assessment as “all those activities
undertaken by teachers, and/or by their students, which provide information to be used as feedback to
modify the teaching and learning activities in which they are engaged” (Black & Wiliam, 1998b) In 2006,
Black and Wiliam’s meta-analysis prompted the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) to form a
consortium or State Collaborative on Assessment and Student Standards (SCASS) to study formative
assessment. This consortium, Formative Assessment for Students and Teachers (FAST), was tasked with
defining formative assessment so that educators could understand the practice. According to Popham
(2008), who participated in the consortium; the following definition was adopted, “formative assessment
is a process used by teachers and students during instruction that provides feedback to adjust ongoing
teaching and learning to improve students’ achievement of intended instructional outcomes” (p. 5). What
is important about this definition is that formative assessment is not an assessment, or test, it is a planned

process that involves a number of different activities (Popham, 2008). These activities use assessments
to garner evidence on student performance; the evidence is then used by teachers to adjust their
instruction on a minute-by-minute basis. The distinction made is essential in characterizing the Schools’
instructional approach since, true formative assessment should not be confused with commercially
prepared benchmark assessment systems (Black & Wiliam, 1998b, Shepard, 2006).
The Schools’ students include significant numbers of low socio-economic status and minority students. As
mentioned, the academic growth and achievement among similar populations of students who
participated in formative instructional and assessment programming has a typical effect size of between
0.4 and 0.7 in favor of students taught in classrooms where formative assessment was employed (Black &
Wiliam, 1998b, Clark, 2013). An effect size of 0.7, if it could be achieved on a nationwide scale, would be
equivalent to raising the mathematics attainment score of an “average” country like England, New
Zealand or the United States into the “top five” after the Pacific Rim countries of Singapore, Korea, Japan
and Hong Kong. (p.61). HP’s administrative team has experienced success utilizing these methods at three
previous schools, each of which was recognized as one of America’s Best High Schools by U.S. News &
World Report from 2010 through 2013, and from 2017 through 2019. Each award was based on data from
academic particulars generated over the previous two years (i.e.: 2010 was based on 2008). The primary
determinants for the awards were based on student academic growth as well as poverty and minority
measures.
B. Principles Fundamental to Program of Instruction Including Research and Rationale
College Readiness, STEM and AP Programming: The Schools’ curriculum program is dynamic, rigorous
and relevant to students who are preparing to compete with students from around the world in a new
and increasingly innovative global arena. The Schools’ endeavor to ensure that their curriculum and
instruction is strategically designed to ensure that each student receives individual attention to their
personal goals with innovative pathways. The Schools understand that it is the education team’s
responsibility to prepare students to be creative, adaptive and innovative in their thinking.
As mentioned, the Schools feature a STEM program and that program is strengthened through the
implementation of Literacy Standards. This is especially important for the Schools’ target student
population since inadequate reading and writing skills are a proven barrier to successful entry in STEM
fields due to the need for remediation before true college work can begin. The Schools’ STEM program
assists students in preparing for careers in STEM fields by enhancing college preparation, thereby reducing
the need for remediation since students who participate in STEM programs in high school are found to
earn higher GPAs, have better retention and are better-equipped for the rigors of college study (College
Board, 2012).
The Schools integrate their STEM curriculum program through embedded projects. In support of the
Schools’ STEM program, the Schools partner with Project Lead the Way (“PLTW”) in exposing its students
to the STEM curriculum. The PLTW program engages students in activities, projects, and problem-based
learning, which provides hands-on classroom experiences. The Schools’ students create, design, build,
discover, collaborate and solve problems while applying what they learn in math and science. They are
also be exposed to STEM fields through professionals from local industries who supplement the real-world
aspect of the curriculum through mentorships and workplace experiences.
The PLTW curriculum is founded in the fundamental problem-solving and critical-thinking skills taught in
traditional career and technical education along with national academic and technical learning standards
and STEM principles, creating what U.S. Secretary of Education Arne Duncan calls one of the "great models

of the new CTE succeeding all across the country." PLTW was recently cited by the Harvard Graduate
School of Education as a "model for 21st century career and technical education."
•
•
•
•
•

PLTW alumni are studying engineering and technology at five to ten times the average rate of all
students.
PLTW students have a higher retention rate in college engineering, science, and related programs
than other students in those areas.
97 percent of PLTW seniors intend to pursue a four-year degree or higher, whereas the national
average is 67 percent.
80 percent of PLTW seniors say they will study engineering, technology, or computer science in
college, whereas the national average is 32 percent.
PLTW students achieve significantly higher scores in reading, mathematics, and science than
Career and Technical Education (CTE) students in the same schools in similar CTE fields.

In its first year, Highland Prep featured Introduction to Engineering (ITE), which explores the design
process and links STEM principles to relevant problem-solving activities. PLTW courses complement
traditional mathematics and science courses and can serve as the foundation for STEM-centered or
specialized academies. PLTW is designed to prepare students to pursue a post-secondary education and
careers in STEM-related fields. In their second year, HP added Principals of Education, and in this upcoming
year (2019-20) will offer Civil Engineering and Architecture. Additionally, the program meets CCSS and the
National Science Education Standards, and standards of ISTE, and ITEEA. In year 4, HP will offer Aerospace
Engineering, Digital Circuits, Cyber Security, and AP Computer Science. In year 5, HP will offer Engineering
Design and Development coupled with an internship program.
Highland Prep features several Robotics programs, which include: SeaPerch, Vex, and the national Zero
Robotics Programming Competition sponsored by NASA & MIT. HP’s administrative team has experience
with establishing each of the aforementioned robotics programs having implemented each program at
their most recent school.
Framework for Data-driven, Personalized Education Utilizing Formative Assessment: The Schools use
data to drive daily instructional practices in the classroom as well as with targeted remediation. Students
in the bottom quartile are immediately identified through a diagnostic assessment for Reading and Math
(ACT Aspire) which helps the administrative team establish a baseline from which to schedule classes,
prescribe remediation, targeted intervention, identify enrichment opportunities, and to measure future
(longitudinal) growth. The assessment is used in conjunction with previous school data to assist the
education team in preparing a specific course of interventions for each student commensurate with their
unique educational needs.
In the interest of examining each student’s overall learning patterns, remedial and enrichment needs, the
Schools implement PEPs for each and every student. Further, such plans are actionable documents that
provide important feedback and support to guide student success and to ensure that each student, his/her
parents, and each teacher has timely information that is used to guide important decisions. Such decisions
may include the need for one-one-one tutoring, workshops, remedial classes, honors classes, and AP
readiness. During Future Freshmen Academy, which occurs over the summer prior to the start of the
school year, students articulate short, medium and long-range goals. They identify processes by which
they will accomplish these goals, and these plans are reviewed by a member of the faculty. Personalized
education, and personalized education plans have a proven track record of ensuring student success
(Wolf, 2010 & NASSP, 2004). Schools that implement Personalized Education Plans use data to look at the
big picture for the school in terms of the overall success of its academic programs. Such schools fine-tune
their programs, student schedules, and targeted remediation regularly. Schools with such programs often

prescribe interventions and remediation daily, on a student-by-student basis, to ensure that disruptions
to learning success are treated in a timely fashion. The Schools’ administrative teams have more than a
decade of experience with using PEPs to maximize individual student improvement.
The Schools’ education team is highly trained in the use of analytics, and how to access and make use of
individual student data. The Schools provide three benchmark assessments each year in order to
determine longitudinal growth and to illuminate areas particular to each student for purposes of
remediation. The benchmark assessments are then used to assist the education team in making
adjustments to classes, workshops, and intervention programs, by examining areas of common weakness
through concept and strand analysis. Thus, data at both the school and classroom level is used to identify
opportunities for both remediation and enrichment (Clark, 2013).
The rationale for using a data-driven, personalized instructional program that makes extensive use of
formative assessment has already been made. As mentioned, the Schools’ administrative team has
extensive experience in personalizing education and using formative assessment instructional practices
to promote significant growth and academic success with their students. Extensive research supports the
effectiveness of personalizing education and using formative instructional practices. Black and Wiliam’s
1998 meta-analysis provided compelling evidence of its effectiveness. Reported effect sizes of between
0.4 and 0.7 in favor of students taught in classrooms where formative assessment was employed can
hardly be ignored (Black & Wiliam, 1998b, p. 141). Yet, the most important reason that the Schools’
instructional program is highly appropriate to its target population is that the bulk of studies indicate that
“improved formative assessment helps low achievers even more than other students – and so reduces
the range of achievement while raising the achievement overall” (Black & Wiliam, 1998b, p. 141). The
Schools’ administrative team believes in equity, and equity is best defined as not treating everyone the
same but rather, getting everyone to the same place, irrespective of the condition upon which they
arrived.
As mentioned, the Schools’ administrative team, used formative assessment instructional practices to
generate significant academic growth, as measured by student growth percentiles (SGP’s) from students
who arrived to their previous school as low achievers. A 2013 research study compared their former
school (treatment school) with ten comparison schools from the same geographic locale, serving similar
student populations, utilizing non-formative assessment practices. The results of the study revealed that
treatment school students had significantly higher math SGPs than comparison students (p < .001, Cohen’s
d = .73), as well as significantly higher reading SGPs (p = .019, Cohen’s d = .33). The effect sizes of d = .73
and d = .33 indicate that treatment school students on average had math SGPs that were .73 standard
deviations higher than comparison students, and reading SGPs that were .33 standard deviations higher
than comparison students (Clark, 2013). These effect sizes can be considered large and medium,
respectively (Cohen, 1988).
The implementation of formative instruction and assessment in each classroom is the key determinant of
a successful data-driven, personalized education program since the degree to which a student learns and
retains conceptual knowledge happens primarily in the classroom and will ultimately determine their level
of academic success. The Schools use formative instruction and assessment to guide student success. The
Schools continuously fine-tune their programs, student schedules, and targeted remediation every nine
weeks. The Schools prescribe interventions and remediation on a student-by-student basis, daily to
ensure that disruptions to learning success are treated in a timely manner. The overall formulation of
these ingredients has been proven to generate growth and academic achievement for similar target
populations and The Schools ensure that these ingredients are implemented with fidelity from the
beginning of the first day of school and thereafter.

Exceptional Teachers: The Schools believe that exemplary student growth and academic achievement is
heavily dependent on the quality of the education team. The education team must be developed and
supported in order to promote excellence in teaching and academic programming. The Schools believe
that the education team must engage in professional development that leads to continuous improvement.
It is essential that the education team exemplify the traits that they wish to see developed in their
students. As a result, the Schools’ education team will participate in ongoing professional development in
the use of formative instruction and assessment practices. The Schools’ education team is trained in
formative instruction and assessment through James Popham’s Transformative Assessment (Popham,
2008) professional development program. Veteran teachers received this training through a professional
learning community (PLC) format over a 3-year period and new teachers follow the same pathway.
In HP’s first year of operation, teachers read Popham’s book, and begin experimenting with the teaching
practice in a Concerns Based Adoption Model (CBAM) format (Hall & Hord, 2001). In year 2, teachers were
expected to have implemented the practice in any direct instruction portion of their classes, with guidance
and feedback from HP’s curriculum coach. Finally, in year 3, teachers who participated in the program the
two previous years were evaluated on the quality of their formative assessment instruction. Teachers who
use formative assessment effectively become increasingly effective and once they’ve developed their
acumen for the instructional innovation – exceptional.
Teacher Improvement and Evaluation System: The Schools’ education team is trained on the Charlotte
Danielson Framework for Teaching which is the model selected to guide teacher and administrator
development and evaluation. The Framework for Teaching is based on the premise that all students
“acquire deep and flexible understanding of complex content, to be able to formulate and test hypothesis,
to analyze information, and to be able to relate one part of their learning to another (Danielson, 2012).”
The Framework for Teaching is consistent with the aims of the Common Core curriculum, where students
learn how to acquire and apply their knowledge efficiently, to think critically, analyze, synthesize and
make inferences, based on a deeper conceptual understanding of the curriculum. The model was also
chosen since it also incorporates formative teaching, learning and assessment practices (Danielson, 2012).
The Charlotte Danielson’s Framework for Teaching model has four domains: Planning and Preparation,
The Classroom Environment, Instruction, and Professional Responsibilities. The Framework for Teaching
model was implemented during the summer in-service prior to the start of the inaugural school year, and
has remained in place thereafter to ensure that the Schools evolve and improve their instructional
effectiveness.
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A.3 Program of Instruction________________________________________________________
A. Core Content Curriculum with Alignment to Educational Philosophy and Arizona State Standards
The Schools’ curriculum program is dynamic, rigorous and relevant to students who are preparing to
compete with students from around the world in a new and increasingly innovative global arena. The
Schools will ensure that its curriculum and instruction is strategically designed to ensure that each student
receives individual attention to their personal goals with innovative pathways. The Schools understands
that it is the education team’s responsibility to prepare students to be creative, adaptive and innovative
in their thinking.
The Schools’ curriculum program is based on Arizona Common Core Standards, as well as other rigorous
state standards. The Schools will ensure that the new standards are implemented with fidelity to ensure
that a consistent set of English Language Arts (ELA) and Mathematics expectations are established that
result in a high-quality preparation of all students for college and career (ADE, 2010). The The Schools’
education team will commit to providing its students with:
 A clear articulation of the standards to ensure students understand what is expected of them with
every lesson.
 Consistent expectations that ensure The Schools students are both nationally and internationally
competitive.
 Interesting and relevant content that supports the development of higher-order thinking skills
consistent with successful post-secondary interactions, and workplace expectations.
English Language Arts Pre-AP Curriculum Materials
The Schools’ thorough understanding of the Arizona Common Core Standards for high school resulted in
The Schools’ selection of the College Board’s Spring Board curricular materials as the foundation for its
English Language Arts curriculum. The Common Core Standards for English language arts are organized by
individual grade level bands in middle school and configured as shared bands in high school (i.e., grades
9-10 and 11-12). Each performance band contains vertically articulated “Anchor Standards” for reading,
writing, communication, and language. Spring Board has a web link that provides highly specific examples
of
its
ELA
alignment
to
the
Common
Core
available
at:
http://springboardprogram.collegeboard.org/commoncore . Spring Board adds value to the Common
Core standards through its strong emphasis on reading analysis, writing in multiple modes, vocabulary
acquisition, and language usage that build from basic language acquisition through effective use of
rhetoric and complex syntax.
Mathematics Pre-AP Curriculum Materials
The Schools’ thorough understanding of the Arizona Common Core Standards for high school resulted in
The Schools’ selection of the College Board’s Spring Board curricular materials as the foundation for its
Mathematics curriculum. The Common Core Standards for Mathematics are organized by the following
categories: Number and Quantity, Algebra, Functions, Geometry, Modeling, Statistics, and Probability.
These conceptual categories show the body of knowledge students should learn in each category to be
college and career ready, and to be prepared to study more advanced mathematics. Again, Spring Board
has a web link that provides highly specific examples of its Mathematics alignment to the Common Core
available at: http://springboardprogram.collegeboard.org/commoncore . The Schools students take one
year of Algebra I as freshmen to ensure a deep and conceptual understanding of algebra. In their
sophomore year, students take Geometry, and Algebra II. Juniors take Probability and Statistics, and
Trigonometry. Seniors will have the opportunity to take Pre-calculus, Calculus, and AP Calculus.

Spring Board is also vertically aligned to the College Board Standards for College Success (CBSCS). A recent
College Board study indicated a strong alignment between the Common Core State Standards and the
CBSCS (College Board, 2010). The CBSCS includes the CCSS focus on required achievements and outcomes,
but also “addresses the process elements and strategies essential to students achieving the final
outcomes.” Spring Board features rigorous curriculum materials, with embedded formative assessments
and professional development support to ensure its accurate and effective implementation.
The Schools’ selection of Spring Board was also influenced by its proven track record as a pre-AP program
that increases participation and prepares a greater diversity of students for success in Advanced
Placement (AP) classes (Elefonte, H., College Board & Jun Li, Fordham University, 2010). Spring Board is
also a strong match for The Schools’ students since it provides “culturally and personally relevant activities
designed to engage students in problem solving, academic discourse and critical analysis.” (College Board,
2010) Further, Spring Board’s approach to personalized learning provides teachers tools to meet each
student’s needs, which is consistent with The Schools’ Personalized Education Plan (PEP) program. The
Pre-AP preparation also fits well with The Schools’ goal of every student graduating from the school
college ready, and with at least one AP course completed (College Board, 2007). Spring Board, is also a
good fit with The Schools’ Science Technology Engineering and Math (STEM) program since students who
take AP math and science courses, “major in STEM fields at significantly higher rates than other students”.
(Seimens, 2011)
Social Studies
The Schools’ curriculum for Social Studies is aligned with Arizona’s State Standards, although literacy is
infused across the curriculum. The Schools’ social studies program begins in the freshmen year with World
History, sophomore year with U.S. History, junior year with Economics and senior year with Government.
Students is able to take AP U.S. History in their junior year and AP Economics in their senior year. The aim
of The Schools’ social studies program is to promote civic proficiency, the knowledge, intellectual
processes, and democratic perspectives required of students to be active and engaged participants in
public life. Civic proficiency depends on a commitment to democratic values, and requires the abilities to
use knowledge about one’s community, nation, and the world to apply discovery processes, data
collection and analysis, collaboration, decision-making, and problem-solving through the examination of
primary source documents, and secondary sources. The Schools will encourage its students to become
educated, global citizens, with a social conscience, who will be able to serve as change agents in their local
and global community.
Science
The Schools’ curriculum for Science is aligned with Arizona’s State Standards, although literacy is infused
across the curriculum. The Schools will ensure literacy and connections to the Common Core State
Standards through secondary alignment with the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS). The NGSS
were designed to reflect the increasing need “for scientific acumen in a complex, technological world”, and
the “emphasis is on demonstrating the scientific process.” (Schachter, 2013)
Highland Prep’s science program also utilizes backward planning (McTighe & Wiggins, 2005; Jacobs, 2010)
to bring students from whatever level that they arrive to the school, to AP readiness within two years of
entry to the academic program. HP accomplishes this through discovery and experiential based learning,
the development of background knowledge and skills, and a deep understanding of physical science.
Students use discovery and experiential based learning to discover the rules and principles that guide
physical sciences. HP students take Chemistry during their freshman year, Biology during their sophomore

year, and Physics in their junior year. Students will also be able to take AP Chemistry in their junior year and
AP Biology in their senior year. HP ensures that the lab component of its science curriculum supports a
seamless transition to any college or university program.
Instructional Framework
The overall instructional program for Highland Prep will be guided by Charlotte Danielson’s Framework
for Teaching, which is a comprehensive model for effective teaching practices that incorporates a teacher
and administrator development and evaluation system. The instructional model has four domains:
Planning and Preparation, The Classroom Environment, Instruction, and Professional Responsibilities
(Danielson, 2007). The model was also chosen since it was designed to support Common Core Instruction,
and data-driven, formative assessment instructional practices. The Framework for Teaching model will be
implemented during the summer in-service prior to the start of the inaugural school year, and will remain
in place to ensure that the school evolves and improves its instructional effectiveness.
Special Education
HP is committed to supporting a learning environment that ensures all students with disabilities receive a
high-quality education, by providing services to children with disabilities in the same manner as the local
school district. Including the specialized instruction, supplementary aids and related services, these allow
for all individual students to fully participation in every aspect of the program as well as maximize the
opportunity for overall achievement.
HP assures that it is in compliance with section 613(a)(5)* and 613(e)(1)(B)** of the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act by adopting Special Education Policies and Procedures that ensure all children
with disabilities have the right to a free appropriate public education (FAPE). These services are provided
in an inclusive model with a continuum of special education and 504 services to meet the needs of all
students with disabilities Students with Individual Education Plans (IEPs) progress steadily towards postsecondary preparedness and placement. HP ensures that services for Students with Disabilities (SSD) are
made through ACT, and the College Board for PSAT, SAT, and AP tests. HP contracts with a special
education organization, where service providers and paraprofessionals are provided on a regular schedule
and as needed. As well, classroom teachers will be trained on 45-day screenings, accommodations and
modifications, and will be required to read and sign an acknowledgement that they have read each child’s
IEP prior to the start of each quarter for each student with a disability whom they teach.
English Language Learners
HP provides appropriate English Language Learner (ELL) support to qualifying students in accordance with
state and federal laws. HP will use their enrollment form and Home Language survey to identify students
who need to take the Arizona English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA). If a student scores PreEmergent, Emergent, Basic, or Intermediate, the student will be designated an ELL, and will receive English
Language Services with parent consent. Services will be provided either through Structured English
Immersion (SEI) or an Individual Language Learner Plan (ILLP), depending on the number of students who
qualify. HP will ensure that its students receiving English Language Services, progress steadily through
reclassification, towards fluency, and post-secondary preparedness and placement.

B. Key Instructional Methods that Incorporating Formative Assessment Strategies
Personalized Education Plans (PEP) provide Instructional Context
All new HP students participate in an administrator/student/parent intake meeting. Prior to the meeting
each student takes an assessment to measure their skills in reading comprehension, pre-algebra and
algebra. In addition to previous school data, a rubric for each test will assist the administrative team in
determining student needs. Where applicable, students are placed in remedial classes and or, assigned to
the Future Freshmen Academy, various workshops, tutoring with teachers, or online tutoring. Student
test data and transcript analysis also assist in determining enrichment opportunities, which may include
honors and advanced placement (AP) classes. The new information coupled with previous school data
ensures that the intake process serves as a baseline from which to measure future growth.
Through this process, students are assigned classes based on their academic history, graduation needs, as
well as student and parent feedback. The meeting process initiates the start of a Personalized Education
Plan (PEP). Each student has unique characteristics, strengths and areas in need of remediation and
enrichment. Each student’s data are tracked on digital datasheets that are updated by a specific grade
level tracker (Holcomb, 2004). For example, freshmen are tracked by one faculty member whose
responsibility is to ensure that all freshmen are kept on track with their freshmen goals, which are
articulated in their four-year graduation plan, a major component of their PEP. Similarly, all sophomores
are tracked by a particular advisor, as well as upper classmen. Highland Prep ensures that each student
participates in the creation of a personalized education plan (PEP) uniquely tailored to his or her own
learning needs and goals. Encouraging students to take an active interest in their own education is
essential. At least as important, is that true personalization requires that a “learning program and
approach [are] specifically tailored to the abilities, interests, preferences, and other needs of the
individual student, and that such considerations are driven by individual data at the classroom level (Wolf,
2010) through formative assessment instructional practices”.
Formative Assessment Instructional Practices Are Embedded in All Instructional Methods
As mentioned in the Educational Philosophy and Target Population sections, the Schools utilize formative
instruction and assessment as its primary means of instruction. In practice, the Schools’ teachers will make
immediate and ongoing instructional adjustments to direct instruction, Cooperative learning, Projectbased Learning, Socratic seminar, and Experiential learning - based on their students’ level of
understanding. The Schools’ teachers learn how to gather ongoing assessment evidence, analyze the
evidence, and change teaching tactics wherever necessary, on a frame-by-frame basis. These instructional
adjustments are based on a combination of students’ observed performance and self-reported levels of
understanding or lack thereof (Popham, 2011b.). The Schools’ teachers use a myriad of brief assessments
on an ongoing basis throughout each class, making “instant, adroit instructional adjustments as required
so that students will be on the receiving end of constantly perfected, truly tailored instruction” (Popham,
2011) in each of the following methods of instruction:
Direct Instruction
The Schools use carefully articulated daily lesson plans to teach students explicit skill-sets through Direct
Instruction that will include minute-by-minute formative assessment. Direct Instruction will include
limited lecture, and small-group, teacher-directed learning activities.

Cooperative Learning
The Schools will feature instruction that organizes classroom activities into academic and social learning
experiences. Students will work together in groups and learn to benefit from one another’s resources and
skills. In this format, The Schools teachers will act as facilitators as students provide the information for
learning. The Schools’ cooperative learning tasks will be intellectually demanding, creative, open-ended,
and involve higher order thinking tasks.
Project-based Learning
The Schools integrate STEM curriculum program through embedded projects. In support of the Schools’
STEM program, the Schools have partnered with Project Lead the Way (PLTW) in exposing its students to
the Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) curriculum. The PLTW program engages
students in activities, projects, and problem-based learning, which provides hands-on classroom
experiences. The Schools’ students create, design, build, discover, collaborate and solve problems while
applying what they learn in math and science. Students engage in a myriad of learning experiences
through a variety of individual roles within a team format. Students will learn individual and group
accountability, and will participate in the creation and presentation of a product that makes use of
integrated themes; utilizing content information, organized in a meaningful context. They will also be
exposed to STEM fields through professionals from local industries who supplement the real-world aspect
of the curriculum through mentorships and workplace experiences. Also, the program meets CCSS and
the new Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS). The Schools will also feature several Robotics
programs, which include: SeaPerch, Vex, and the national Zero Robotics Programming Competition
sponsored by NASA & MIT.
Socratic Seminar
The Schools use Socratic Seminar, otherwise known as Socratic Circles (SC) to encourage maximum
student involvement and participation through ongoing peer interaction. SC instruction will generate
multiple views on a particular issue or topic; resulting in a more thorough examination of the topic. The
Schools teachers use Socratic questioning to establish and maintain the flow of the activity, and to help
students connect the activity to their learning. The question style of Socratic questions is open-ended;
focusing on broad, general ideas over specific information. The Schools will use this questioning technique
to encourage higher-level critical thinking skill development.
Experiential Learning and Digital Literacy
The Schools use experiential or discovery learning provides students with an opportunity to learn by
participating in activities, conducting experiments, and field work. The Schools also believes that digital
literacy or, 21st century literacy is essential to reach students and bring relevance to instruction which
includes “understanding wikis, blogs, digital media, and other new and emerging technologies (Jacobs,
2010).” For example, Digital Storytelling is used across the curriculum to provide students with digital
content that is merged and remixed into new forms of conceptual awareness. Students will be exposed
to digital media tools – such as GarageBand, Audacity, MovieMaker, iMovie and other compilation tools
that foster their ability to create multimedia products of their learning experiences through the use of
digital storytelling. Students learn how to digitize media by using picture and video editors, mix
soundtracks and use microphones to overlay their narrations over digital music and sound effects.

Real-life experience and Internships
The Schools students is exposed to STEM fields through professionals from local industries who
supplement the real-world aspect of the curriculum through mentorships and workplace experiences.
Students will have the opportunity to participate in summer, evenings or weekends, and in their senior
year of school during the school day. The Schools wants students to be able to confirm or rule out career
choices, acquire a realistic understanding of the workplace, and to find career sponsorships.
C. Summative Assessment Plan that Supports Student Mastery of Arizona State Standards
HP believes that summative assessment is key to measuring students’ status with respect to curricular
outcomes (Marzano, 2009). For this reason, HP’s teachers provide a beginning of course (BOC) and an End
of Course (EOC) for every subject that they teach. This is important to determine individual student
growth, and teacher effectiveness.
HP also conducts three benchmark assessments per year in order to determine longitudinal growth
towards exit goals reflective of the Arizona State Standards, and College Readiness exams. HP’s digital,
longitudinal assessment system is used to drive the school’s remedial intervention program. Specifically,
HP uses ACT’s new digital assessment system – ACT Aspire to generate a concept analysis for each and
every student in the school. Each student is able to remediate identified weak skill-sets through an online
tutoring program. Students will also be able to remediate weak skill sets with one-on-one assistance from
teachers before and after school. Additionally, ACT Aspire is used to generate strand analyses that will be
used to create workshops throughout the year. Students are assigned to specific workshops
commensurate with areas targeted for remediation of individual weak skill-sets during the after during
the student activities hour on regular school days. HP believes that summative assessments should not
me conducted merely to collect data that measures status without using the data to help students
(McMillan, 2007). Therefore, all summative data is shared with students and their families in a timely
manner so that interventions may be scheduled in support of remedial needs. Further, information
generated by the quarterly benchmark assessments will be used to provide feedback to teachers in areas
that should be strengthened or reinforced in their curriculum.
College Readiness
Once HP students have mastered Arizona’s Common Core Standards, students are eligible to access the
school’s Advanced Placement curriculum. HP’s students will also take the PSAT 8/9, PSAT NMSQT, ACT,
and SAT college readiness assessments. ACT (2013) and The College Board (2013) reformulated their tests
to reflect alignment to the Common Core Standards. These data are analyzed and used to determine each
student’s college readiness. High quality data gathering isn’t just helpful for identifying problems; HP uses
data to illuminate opportunities for students to benefit from enrichment programs such as honors, and
AP classes. HP believes in exposing as many students as possible to the AP curriculum with the goal of
each of its students taking at least one AP course prior to graduation.
D. Alignment of Program of Instruction and Performance Management Plan
HP’s Performance Management Plan for math and reading outlines the action steps, timelines, and
materials necessary to fully support successful implementation of the program of instruction, including
successful oversight and accountability from staff, the administrative team and the Governing Board.
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ENROLLMENT DEMAND METHODOLOGY
HIGHLAND PREP: 2019-2020 ENROLLMENT

Grade
9
10
11
12
TOTAL

Enrolled
155
113
84
352

Transfer Students
Pending
20
13
33

Total Enrolled
155
133
97
385

Wait List
72
25
18
115

Total Enrolled
134
130
117
108
489

Wait List
61
20
13
5
99

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP: 2019-2020 ENROLLMENT

Grade
9
10
11
12
TOTAL

Enrolled
134
120
102
103
459

Transfer Students
Pending
0
10
15
5
25

Fair and Equitable Enrollment Practices
Enrollment information is always readily available throughout the outreach period. Families and students
are able to meet with the leadership team, register and acquire information about the academic program.
Although it is important to point out that both Highland Prep (“HP”) and Madison Highland Prep (“MHP”)
are destination schools and students hail from all over the Phoenix metropolitan area, the leadership team
does target its outreach efforts to focus on the immediate area surrounding the schools, and particularly
low-income students.
HP puts forth every effort to “inform students in the community about the charter school and to give each
student an equal opportunity to attend,” (20 U.S.C. 7221b (b)(3)(I)). The school enrolls all eligible students
who submit a timely application, unless the number of applications exceeds the capacity of a program,
class, grade-level, or building (A.R.S. 15-184).
MHP and HP are open enrollment, public schools of choice with no admissions criteria except for
timeliness of a submitted application. MHP and HP do not discriminate based on race, color, ethnicity,
national origin, religion, sex, gender, economic status, disabilities or proficiency in the English language,.
MHP and HP admission and enrollment practices comply with all applicable state and federal laws and
regulations. If by the application deadline, the number of applications exceeds the capacity of the charter
school all applications are selected for available slots through a lottery. The lottery is a random selection
process by which applicants are admitted, with the exception of (a) siblings of already enrolled students,
and (b) children of MHP and HP’s founders, employees or members of the governing body. MHP’s and

HP’s enrollment policies and their implementation are aligned with the AZCSP Non- Regulatory Guidance,
April 2011, the ASBCS’s 2018 Guidance and applicable sections of ARS §15-184; ESEA 5210 (1)(H).
MHP and HP acknowledge that their respective enrollment practices comply with State law and applicable
Federal laws, including Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act and Federal civil rights laws,
including, but not limited to, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
of 1973; and Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as applicable.
Enrollment Timeframe
December 21st, 2019 Open Enrollment Deadline

Highland Prep
Grade
9
10
11
12
Total

Historic
2017-18 2018-19
81
123
95

81

218

2019-20
143
115
86
344

2020-21
130
150
130
90
500

Projected
2021-22 2022-23
120
120
140
120
140
140
120
140
520
520

2023-24
140
120
120
140
520

*2019-2020 actual enrollment is 344 on August 20, 2019, projected to reach 350+ for the year
***Wait list was as of May 15, 2019 when we closed new enrollment

Wait List
2019-20
72
25
18
0
115

POVERTY MEASURES TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE SCHOOL ATTENDANCE AREAS
Madison Highland Prep and Highland Prep (collectively, the “Schools”) use the same measure of poverty to identify
eligible school attendance areas, to determine the ranking of each area, and to determine allocations to each
school area based on the number of children in poverty ages 5 through 17.
OR
The Arizona Department of Education Income Guidelines for determining eligibility information for federal funding
associated with programs funded under the Elementary and Secondary Education Act.
OR
Proportional numbers of children in schools operating under the Community Eligibility Program for the Richard B.
Russell National School Lunch Act.

Please check all that apply
Most recent census data
Number of children eligible for free and/or reduced priced lunches under the Richard B.
Russell National School Lunch Act

X

Number of children in families receiving assistance under the State program funded under
the Social Security Act
Number of Children eligible to receive medical assistance under Medicaid

A composite of such indicators;

OR

The Arizona Department of Education Income Guidelines for determining eligibility
information for federal funding associated with programs funded under the Elementary and
Secondary Education Act; OR

X

Proportional numbers of children in schools operating under the Community Eligibility
Program for the Richard B. Russell National School Lunch Act.

PERCENTAGE OF STUDENTS QUALIFIED FOR TITLE I FUNDS
Highland Prep



2017-18: 43.04%
2018-19: 37.98%

Madison Highland Prep



2017-18: 63.34%
2018-19: 61.85%
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements

Board of Directors
Highland Prep
Surprise, Arizona
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Highland Prep (a nonprofit organization), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and the related statements of activities and cash
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Highland Prep as of June 30, 2019, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements (Continued)
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 29, 2019, on our
consideration of Highland Prep’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
Highland Prep’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.
Other Matter
This report is intended for the information and use of management, others within the Organization, the Arizona State
Board for Charter Schools and the Arizona State Department of Education and is not intended to be and should not
be used by any other parties.

Henry J. Fortino, CPA, PC
Tucson, Arizona
July 29, 2019

HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2019
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash
Due from State of Arizona
Prepaid expenses

$

Total Current Assets

591,376
32,140
4,572
628,088
38,690

Furniture and Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $9,237
Total Assets $

666,778

$

131,822
46,515
9,900
100,186

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Note payable - current portion
Due to affiliate
Total Current Liabilities

288,423
12,999

Note Payable - Long Term Portion
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

301,422

365,356
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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666,778

HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2019
CHANGES NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Support and Revenue:
State equalization program
Other state revenue
Other income
Federal grants

$

Total Support and Revenue

1,785,158
140,251
48,637
302,320
2,276,366

Expenses:
Academic programs:
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and employee benefits
Rent expenses
Other occupancy costs
Supplies
Purchased services
Depreciation
Total academic programs
General and administration:

622,963
62,032
408,289
143,962
430,417
121,668
6,999
1,796,330

Salaries and wages

76,131

Payroll taxes and employee benefits

6,900

Rent expenses

43,000

Other occupancy costs

15,572

Supplies

1,977

Purchased services

54,079

Total general and administration

197,659
Total Expenses

1,993,989

Increase in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

282,377
82,979

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR
NET ASSETS END OF YEAR

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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365,356

HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Increase in Net Assets
Adjustments to reconcile the increase in net
assets to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in:
Due from State of Arizona
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

$

282,377

6,999
(17,344)
(4,572)
98,780
21,141
387,381

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Advances from affiliate
Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities

(6,652)
50,272
43,620

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payments on note payable
Net Cash Used By Financing Activities

(7,187)
(7,187)

Increase in Cash

423,814

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

167,562

CASH AT END OF YEAR

$

591,376

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest
Equipment acquired through issuance of note payable

$

800
30,086

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 1 -- PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION
Highland Prep (the School) was organized as a not-for-profit organization in 2015, to provide secondary education,
under the laws of the State of Arizona. The School operates a charter school located in Surprise, Arizona. The
School markets to students that are interested in a college-preparatory high school with an emphasis in science,
technology, engineering and math (STEM).
NOTE 2 -- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards for financial reporting
for not-for-profit organizations. These standards require presentation of a statement of financial position, a statement
of activities and a statement of cash flows. They also require the classification of resources into two classes of net
assets based on the absence or existence of donor-imposed restrictions.
In order to observe restrictions, which donors place on grants and other gifts, as well as designations made by the
Board of Directors, all assets, liabilities and activities are accounted for in the following net asset classifications:
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Net assets without
donor restrictions may be designated for specific purposes or locations by action of the Board of Directors.
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may be fulfilled by actions
of the School to meet the stipulations or become unrestricted at a date specified by the donor.
Cash
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less when purchased. The School had $10,697 of cash balances restricted for the
classroom site fund at June 30, 2019.
Donations-In-Kind
Material donations-in-kind items received by the School are recorded as income along with a corresponding charge
to expense or capitalized cost.
Support and Revenue
Revenue consists primarily of equalization payments and other funding from the State of Arizona. These amounts
are recorded as revenue when earned by the School as services are provided to students. Support consists mainly of
grants from the federal government that are passed through the State of Arizona. These amounts are recognized as
contributions when promised to the School.
All contributions are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless restricted by a donor.
Amounts received that are restricted by a donor are reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions.
When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions
and are reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. However, if contribution with
donor restrictions has its restriction satisfied in the year contributed it is classified as a contribution without a donor
restriction.
The School uses volunteers in all of its academic programs. Contributed services are reported as contributions at
their fair value if such services create or enhance non-financial assets or would have been purchased if not provided
by contribution, and which require specialized skills provided by individuals possessing such skills. There were no
material contributed services meeting these criteria during the year ending June 30, 2019.
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HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 2 -- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property and Equipment
It is the School’s policy to capitalize individual property and equipment acquisitions with of value of $5,000 or
more. Purchased property and equipment is capitalized at cost. Donations of property and equipment are capitalized
at their estimated fair values. Such donations are reported as contributions without donor restrictions unless the
donor has restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose. Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their
use and contributions of cash that must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as contributions with
donor restrictions. Property and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the respective assets.
Income taxes
The School is an organization exempt from income taxation under Section 501 (a) as an entity described in Section
501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. It is not classified as a private foundation. The School’s income tax returns
are subject to examination by the IRS, generally for three years after they are filed.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
NOTE 3 -- CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash in
banks. The School limits its credit exposure by placing its cash balances with a high credit quality financial
institution. Accounts at the institution are insured up to $250,000 by the FDIC. At June 30, 2019 the School had
approximately $342,100 of uninsured bank balances. The School does not require collateral on amounts greater
than insured balances.
NOTE 4 -- ADVERTISING
The School has non direct-response advertising only and charges the costs to expense as incurred. For the year
ending June 30, 2019 advertising expense totaled $23,800.
NOTE 5 -- FUNCTIONAL ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis.
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. Costs
associated with individual functions are expensed directly as incurred. Payroll taxes and employee benefits have
been allocated amongst the functions based on gross payroll. Rent and occupancy costs have been allocated based
on square footage.
NOTE 6 -- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The due to affiliate balance was a result of another charter school that has common management paying operating
expenses on behalf of the School. The balance has no repayment terms.
For the year ending June 30, 2019, the School paid $17,600 to a company owned by a board member for accounting
services.
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HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 7 -- OPERATING LEASE
The School entered into a lease agreement on its campus facilities. Starting monthly rent payments are $65,625
with payments commencing in January of 2019. The lease also calls for payments of a 1% management fee as well
as property insurance and property tax charges as applicable. The lease includes an option to purchase the campus
facilities for a multiple of the development costs. The School has exercised this purchase option and is the process
of obtaining financing through the issuance of IDA bonds.
NOTE 8 -- INFORMATION REGARDING LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY
The School strives to maintain liquid financial assets sufficient to cover 45 days of general expenditures. Financial
assets in excess of daily cash requirements are generally invested in certificates of deposit and money market funds.
The following table reflects the School’s financial assets as of June 30, 2019, reduced by amounts that are not
available to meet general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date because of
contractual restrictions or internal board designations.
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Total financial assets

$ 591,375
32,140
623,515

Cash restricted for classroom site fund

(10,697)

Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general expenditures

$

612,818

NOTE 9 -- NOTE PAYABLE
The note payable calls for monthly payments of $888 including interest at 4% through September 2021 and is
secured by a vehicle. Future annual principal maturities on the note are as follows: 2020-$9,900, 2021-$10,300,
and 2022-$2,699. Interest expense for the year ending June 30, 2019 totaled $808.
NOTE 10 -- COMPLIANCE
The School’s compliance with certain laws and regulations is subject to review by its Sponsor and the State of
Arizona, Office of the Auditor General and Department of Education. Such reviews could result in an adjustment of
equalization revenue or other corrective action.
NOTE 11 -- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The School has evaluated subsequent events through July 29, 2019, the date which the financial statements were
available to be issued.
NOTE 12 – NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT
On August 18, 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) - Presentation of Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. The School has adjusted the presentation of its financial statements
accordingly. The new standards change the following aspects of the School’s financial statements: 1) The
unrestricted net asset class has been renamed net assets without donor restrictions. 2) The financial statements
include a new disclosure about liquidity and availability of resources (Note 8). 3) The statement of activities now
shows expenses by their natural classification.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Board of Directors
Highland Prep
Surprise, Arizona
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of Highland Prep (a nonprofit organization), which comprise
the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated July 29,
2019.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Highland Prep’s internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Highland Prep’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the School’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Highland Prep’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters (Continued)
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the School’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Henry J. Fortino, CPA, PC
Tucson, Arizona
July 29, 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements

Board of Directors
Madison Highland Prep
Phoenix, Arizona
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Madison Highland Prep (a nonprofit organization),
which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and the related statements of activities and
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Madison Highland Prep as of June 30, 2019 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements (Continued)
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 29, 2019, on our
consideration of Madison Highland Prep’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Madison Highland Prep’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Henry J. Fortino, CPA, PC
Tucson, Arizona
July 29, 2019

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2019
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash
Restricted cash - classroom site fund
Accounts receivable - State of Arizona
Prepaid expenses

$

Total Current Assets

1,128,424
185,673
54,181
9,251
1,377,529

Due from Affiliate
Property and Equipment, net

100,186
231,345
Total Assets $

1,709,060

$

342,072
673,075
88,976
78,997
49,900
23,000

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Management fees payable - related party
Accrued payroll
Due to State of Arizona
Current portion of capital lease payable
Current portion of note payable
Total Current Liabilities
Capital Lease Payable - Long-Term Portion
Note Payable - Long-Term Portion

1,256,020
4,366
27,217

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

1,287,603

421,457
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,709,060

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Activities
Year ended June 30, 2019
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Support and Revenue:
State equalization program
Other state revenue
Other income
Federal grants

$

Total Support and Revenue

3,579,848
474,833
185,099
217,855
4,457,635

Expenses:
Academic programs:
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and employee benefits
Rent expense
Other occupancy costs
Supplies
Purchased services
Management fees
Depreciation

956,235
202,361
484,127
13,593
552,876
251,636
266,700
75,148

Total academic programs

2,802,676

General and administration:
Salaries and wages

360,906

Payroll taxes and employee benefits

84,925

Rent expense

54,000

Other occupancy costs

12,111

Supplies

6,695

Purchased services

198,684

Management fees

622,324
64,061

Dues and fees
Total general and administration

1,403,706
Total Expenses

4,206,382

Increase In Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

251,253

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR

170,204

NET ASSETS END OF YEAR

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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421,457

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Increase in Net Assets
Adjustments to reconcile the increase in net
assets to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in:
Accounts receivable - State of Arizona
Prepaid expenses
Accounts and management fees payable
Accrued payroll
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

$

251,253

75,148
4,557
64,971
588,763
(6,550)
978,142

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Cash paid for purchses of property and equipment
Advances to affiliate
Net Cash Used By Investing Activities

(126,297)
(50,272)
(176,569)

Net Cash Used By Financing Activities

(190,019)
(21,664)
(46,042)
(257,725)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayments to the State of Arizona
Payments on long-term debt
Payments on capital leases payable

Increase in Cash

543,848

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

770,249

CASH AT END OF YEAR

$

1,314,097

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest

$

11,400

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 1 – PURPOSE AND ORGANIZATION
Madison Highland Prep (the School) was organized as a not-for-profit organization in 2014, to provide secondary
education, under the laws of the State of Arizona. The School operates a charter school located in Phoenix, Arizona.
The School markets to students that are interested in a college-preparatory high school with an emphasis in science,
technology, engineering and math (STEM).
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards for financial reporting
for not-for-profit organizations. These standards require presentation of a statement of financial position, a statement
of activities and a statement of cash flows. They also require the classification of resources into two classes of net
assets based on the absence or existence of donor-imposed restrictions.
In order to observe restrictions, which donors place on grants and other gifts, as well as designations made by the
Board of Directors, all assets, liabilities and activities are accounted for in the following net asset classifications:
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Net assets without
donor restrictions may be designated for specific purposes or locations by action of the Board of Directors.
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may be fulfilled by
actions of the School to meet the stipulations or become unrestricted at a date specified by the donor.
Cash
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Donations-In-Kind
Material donations-in-kind items received by the School are recorded as income along with a corresponding charge
to expense or capitalized cost.
Support and Revenue
Revenue consists primarily of equalization payments and other funding from the State of Arizona. These amounts
are recorded as revenue when earned by the School as services are provided to students. Support consists mainly of
grants from the federal government that are passed through the State of Arizona. These amounts are recognized as
contributions when promised to the school.
All contributions are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless restricted by a donor.
Amounts received that are restricted by a donor are reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions.
When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions
and are reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. However, if a contribution with
donor restrictions has its restriction satisfied in the year contributed it is classified as a contribution without a donor
restriction.
The School uses volunteers in its academic programs. Contributed services are reported as contributions at their fair
value if such services create or enhance non-financial assets or would have been purchased if not provided by
contribution, and which require specialized skills provided by individuals possessing such skills. There were no
material contributed services meeting these criteria during the year ending June 30, 2019.
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MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property and Equipment
It is the School’s policy to capitalize individual property and equipment acquisitions with of value of $5,000 or
more. Purchased property and equipment is capitalized at cost. Donations of property and equipment are capitalized
at their estimated fair values. Such donations are reported as unrestricted contributions unless the donor has
restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose. Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and
contributions of cash that must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as restricted contributions.
Property and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets.
Income taxes
The School is an organization exempt from income taxation under Section 501 (a) as an entity described in Section
501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. It is not classified as a private foundation. The School’s income tax returns
are subject to examination by the IRS, generally for three years after they are filed.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
NOTE 3 – CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash in
banks. The School limits its credit exposure by placing its cash balances with a high credit quality financial
institution. Accounts at the institution are insured up to $250,000 by the FDIC. At June 30, 2019 the School had
uninsured bank balances totaling $1,004,700. The School does not require collateral on balances in excess of
insurance limits.
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2019:
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles

$ 14,721
374,595
389,316
(157,971)
$231,345

Less accumulated depreciation
NOTE 5 – OPERATING LEASE

The School leases its campus facilities under the provisions of a lease agreement classified as an operating lease.
Lease expense is calculated at fifteen percent of State equalization funding. The lease expires in June of 2024.
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MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 6 – FUNCTIONAL ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis.
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. Costs
associated with individual functions are expensed directly as incurred. Payroll taxes and employee benefits have
been allocated amongst the functions based on gross payroll. Rent and occupancy costs have been allocated based
on square footage. Management fees have been allocated based on the percentage time spent performing academic
vs. administrative functions.
NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The due from affiliate balance is a result of the School paying operating expenses on behalf of another charter
school that has common management. The balance has no repayment terms.
The School has entered into a charter school management agreement with an entity that is owned by the executive
director. The agreement calls for the entity to provide school development, oversight and management of
educational programs, curriculum development, grant writing and grant oversight, financial services, human
resource services, information systems support, and facilities management in exchange for twenty five percent of
State equalization funding.
NOTE 8 – DUE TO STATE OF ARIZONA
The School received federal grant money passed through the State of Arizona for the purpose of start-up funding for
a new school. Plans to start up the new school have been abandoned; therefore, the School has agreed to reimburse
the State these funds.
NOTE 9 – CAPITAL LEASES PAYABLE
The School holds equipment under the provisions of long-term lease agreements classified as capital leases. The
original cost of the leased assets of $138,324 net of accumulated amortization of $92,216 is included as property and
equipment on the statement of financial position. Amortization expense on capital leases is included in depreciation
expense. The future minimum lease payments, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as
of June 30, 2019, are as follows:
2020
2021

$ 52,900
2,400
55,300
(1,034)
54,266
(49,900)
$ 4,366

Less amount representing interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Less current portion
NOTE 10 – NOTE PAYABLE

The note payable calls for monthly payments of $2,113 including interest at 5.95% through July 2021 and is secured
by a school bus. Future annual principal maturities on the note are as follows: 2020-$23,000, 2021-$24,400 and
2022-$2,817.
Interest expense for the year ending June 30, 2019 totaled $11,388.
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MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2019
NOTE 11 – INFORMATION REGARDING LIQUIDITY AND AVALABILITY
The School strives to maintain liquid financial assets sufficient to cover 45 days of general expenditures. Financial
assets in excess of daily cash requirements are generally invested in certificates of deposit and money market funds.
The following table reflects the School’s financial assets as of June 30, 2019, reduced by amounts that are not
available to meet general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date because of
contractual restrictions or internal board designations.
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Total financial assets

$ 1,314,097
54,181
1,368,278

Cash restricted for classroom site fund

(185,673)

Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general expenditures

$ 1,182,605

NOTE 12 – COMPLIANCE
The School’s compliance with certain laws and regulations is subject to review by its Sponsor and the State of
Arizona, Office of the Auditor General and Department of Education. Such reviews could result in an adjustment of
State equalization revenue or other corrective action.
NOTE 13 – RETIREMENT PLAN
The School sponsors a defined contribution retirement plan which covers substantially all employees. The School’s
contribution totaled $25,356 for the year ending June 30, 2019.
NOTE 14 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The School has evaluated subsequent events through July 29, 2019, the date which the financial statements were
available to be issued.
NOTE 15 – NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT
On August 18, 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) - Presentation of Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. The School has adjusted the presentation of its financial statements
accordingly. The new standards change the following aspects of the School’s financial statements: 1) The
unrestricted net asset class has been renamed net assets without donor restrictions. 2) The financial statements
include a new disclosure about liquidity and availability of resources (Note 11). 3) The statement of activities now
shows expenses by their natural classification.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Board of Directors
Madison Highland Prep
Phoenix, Arizona
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of Madison Highland Prep (a nonprofit organization), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities, and cash
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated July 29, 2019.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Madison Highland Prep’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Madison Highland Prep’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Madison Highland Prep’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters (Continued)
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the School’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Henry J. Fortino, CPA, PC
Tucson, Arizona
July 29, 2019

HIGHLAND PREP
Budget
6/30/19

Enrollment

6/30/20

205

State Equalization Program
Other State Revenue
Local Revenue
Federal Revenue
Total Revenue
Academic Programs
General and Administrative
Salaries, Wages & Benefits
Academic Supplies
Administrative Supplies
Marketing and Advertising
Accounting/Computer Maintenance/Legal/Audit
Special Education ‐ Contract
Athletics
Curriculum/Textbooks
Facility Rent
Insurance
Utilities
Building and Grounds Maintenance
Furniture
AV/Computer Equipment
Equipment Rental
Professional Development/Training/Travel
Food Service
Transportation
Dues and Fees
Printing
Miscellaneous
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Expense

$

Change in Net Assets

350

$

1,784,000 $
131,917
39,228
175,240
2,130,385 $
‐
‐
715,922
35,676
25,036
13,665
31,353
44,875
21,515
68,905
410,629
21,570
103,432
41,524
37,910
96,656
12,014
6,571
22,864
1,380
1,039
1,063
10,000
2,237
1,725,836 $

2,894,527
215,857
40,000
40,000
3,190,384
‐
‐
1,019,181
45,000
30,000
15,000
55,000
58,000
35,000
100,000
666,090
35,000
150,000
50,000
50,000
75,000
25,000
15,000
25,000
2,500
2,500
5,000
15,000
41,373
2,514,644

$

404,549 $

675,740

$

DEBT RATIO STATEMENT
Highland Prep does not have any existing debt. Debt ratios for the proposed bond debt are as follows.

Income Available for Debt Service

Pro-Forma Annual Debt Service
Pro-Forma Debt Service Coverage

Pro-Forma Annual Debt Service
Pro-Forma Debt Service Coverage

2019
(Projected)

2020
(Projected)

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2021
2022
(Projected)
(Projected)

2023
(Projected)

2024
(Projected)

$817,415

$1,383,203

$2,065,834

$2,245,758

$2,240,220

$2,250,227

N/A
N/A

With Credit Enhancement (3.00% Rate)
$388,863
$388,863
$643,225
$639,925
3.56x
5.31x
3.50x
3.51x

$641,450
3.49x

N/A
N/A

Without Credit Enhancement (5.50% Rate)
$667,975
$667,975
$847,975
$848,075
2.07x
3.09x
2.65x
2.65x

$847,625
2.64x

Debt Ratio - Loan to Value
Property Value
2019 Building Appraisal

$ 10,750,000.00

Debt Financed & Secured by Property
Building Purchase Price
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment

$ 10,500,000.00
250,000.00

Total
Debt Ratio:

$ 10,750,000.00
1.00 to 1

I.

SCHOOL LEADERSHIP

Jack Bagley, Principal. Mr. Bagley began his teaching career in 1996 in Burley, Idaho. Over the course of
21 years, he has served as a mentor teacher, Career and Technical Education (CTE) Department Head, and
Business Department Head. He has also served as a Business Professionals of America (BPA) club advisor.
Mr. Bagley has coached multiple sports, including baseball, football and basketball. His boys’ varsity
basketball team won two Idaho State Championships, earning Mr. Bagley Coach of the Year Honors. In
addition, he has worked with students in grades kindergarten through 12 as a technology teacher. Mr.
Bagley holds his Arizona state Principal Certification and earned his Bachelor’s Degree in Marketing
Education, with a Business Education Minor, from Utah State University. His Master’s Degree in
Educational Leadership was obtained from the University of Idaho.
Steven Mack, Director of Curriculum. Mr. Mack has been in the field of education for 17 years. Previously,
he has served as a principal of a Core Knowledge elementary school and assistant principal of a STEM
college-preparatory high school. During this time, both of the schools earned “A” ratings from the Arizona
Department of Education. Mr. Mack holds an Arizona state Principal Certification. He attended Illinois
State University and Eastern Illinois University where he received his Bachelor of Science and Master of
Arts degrees in Political Science. Mr. Mack has post-graduate degrees in Educational Leadership and
Secondary Education from Ottawa University.
Joseph Kovesdy, Academic Coach. Mr. Kovesdy has taught high school English for two years and served
as Madison Highland Prep’s curriculum coach for the past two years. Previously, he worked as a reporter
and freelance writer. He holds a Bachelor of Arts in Journalism from Ohio State University, a Master of
Arts in English from Northern Arizona University and a Master of Secondary Education from the University
of Arizona. He has an Arizona state teaching certification in English. Mr. Kovesdy is the faculty sponsor for
the National Honor Society chapter at Madison Highland Prep (“MHP”), MHP’s digital school newspaper,
the Heat Monitor, and the MSD Archives.

II. SCHOOL GOVERNING BOARD
Dr. Kerry Clark. Dr. Clark has served as a high school principal for the past 18 years. His first school was a
turn-around assignment, his second school was a start-up college-preparatory school, and his third school
was a turn-around and ultimate transformation to a STEM college-preparatory high school. As a result of
Dr. Clark’s leadership and quality staff, his three previous schools experienced exemplary student
academic growth. Each of these schools were recognized by U.S. News & World Report as one of America’s
Best High Schools in 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, 2018 and 2019. The former was ranked 11th in the
State of Arizona for exposure of the Advanced Placement (AP) curriculum for its students, and the latter
was also recognized by Newsweek as one of America’s Top high schools, in addition to receiving ‘A’ Report
Cards from the Arizona Department of Education, and designation as a Title I ‘High Performing Reward
School’. Dr. Clark serves as operator and principal for M HP, a STEM college-prep charter high school in
central Phoenix, Arizona. Previously, Dr. Clark served as a Quality Assurance Review Chair for AdvancED,
an International School Accreditation organization. Dr. Clark holds an Arizona state Superintendent
Certification and is a member of the Arizona School Administrators Association, and the National
Association of Secondary School Principals. He attended University of Alberta where he received his
Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science, Arizona State University where he received his Master of

Education degree in Curriculum and Instruction and Northern Arizona University where he received his
Doctor of Education degree in Educational Leadership.
Scott W. Kies, CPA. Mr. Kies is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified Fraud Examiner and is a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), Arizona Society of Certified Public
Accountants (ASCPA), and the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE). He has extensive
experience with professional consulting and financial managerial services for charter schools and nonprofits, including strategic and organizational planning, review and preparation of IRS form 990, financial
reporting and audit preparation, fraud and other special investigations and reviews, budget development,
and grants management. He attended Arizona State University where he received his Bachelor of Science
degree in Accounting.
Annie Gilbert. Ms. Gilbert is a Certified Public Accountant with more than 10 years working in charter
school finance. Ms. Gilbert currently works for a charter-school system in Chandler, Arizona. Prior to her
current position, Ms. Gilbert worked for the Arizona Department of Education as the Director of
Innovative Learning and the Arizona Charter Schools Association as the Director of School Operation and
Finance. Ms. Gilbert graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from the State University of New York
at Buffalo and began her career in public accounting at Deloitte and Touche and then Ernst and Young.
Ms. Gilbert is pursuing a Master’s in Education and currently serves on Governor Ducey’s Classroom First
Council and has four children who have all attended Arizona charter schools.
Dr. Donald Enz. Dr. Enz taught public school for eleven years before entering into school administration,
rising through the ranks and finishing his public-school career as Superintendent of Scottsdale Unified
School District, where he retired in 2001. Following this distinguished career; Dr. Enz was asked to serve
as Arizona’s Executive Director of AdvancED, an International Accreditation Organization for Secondary
Schools and Colleges. In 2013, Dr. Enz retired once more and continues to serve as an educational
consultant, providing leadership solutions for school districts throughout Arizona. In 2013, Dr. Enz was
instrumental in forging the state’s first charter school and district partnership, resulting in a high quality seamless Pre-K through 12th grade STEM Education experience for Madison Elementary families and
students from all over the Phoenix area. Now in its fifth year, MHPrep continues to flourish with ‘A’ Report
Cards, U.S. News & World Report’s America’s Best High School recognitions and is only the third high
school in Arizona to receive prestigious STEM Certification from AdvancED.
Bill Bressler. Bill Bressler serves as an educational consultant for Waltz Construction Company. Previously,
Bill served as the Chief Academic Officer for the Legacy Traditional Schools’ network for eight years. Mr.
Bressler has over 20 years of PK- 12 public education experience as a school counselor, teacher, assistant
principal, principal, assistant superintendent, superintendent, and chief academic officer. Mr. Bressler
received both his B.S. and M.Ed. from Arizona State University. He is currently a doctoral candidate at
Capella University. Mr. Bressler has received several awards and public recognition for academic
accomplishments while serving as the principal and chief executive at various local education agencies.

CHARTER LITIGATION
There is no material litigation, action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court,
government agency, public board or body, pending or, to the best knowledge of HP’s after due inquiry, threatened against
HP affecting the existence of HP, HP’s charter contract, the titles of its officers to their respective offices or affecting or
seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance or delivery of the proposed bonds.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT ‐ HIGHLAND PREP
Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2021
2022
2023
(Projected)
(Projected)
(Projected)
Enrollment

475

State Equalization Program
Other State Revenue
Local Revenue
Federal Revenue
Total Revenue
Academic Programs
General and Administrative
Salaries, Wages & Benefits
Academic Supplies
Administrative Supplies
Marketing and Advertising
Accounting/Computer Maintenance/Legal/Audit
Special Education ‐ Contract
Athletics
Curriculum/Textbooks
Facility Rent
Insurance
Utilities
Building and Grounds Maintenance
Furniture
AV/Computer Equipment
Equipment Rental
Professional Development/Training/Travel
Food Service
Transportation
Dues and Fees
Printing
Miscellaneous
Depreciation and Amortization
Capital Outlay
Contingency
Total Expense

$

Change in Net Assets

$ 1,161,918

500

3,848,638 $
282,902
40,000
45,000
$ 4,216,540 $
‐
‐
1,320,116
46,350
30,900
15,450
56,650
59,740
55,000
103,000
811,302
36,050
154,500
51,500
51,500
77,250
25,750
15,450
25,750
2,575
2,575
5,150
15,450
‐
50,000
42,614
$ 3,054,622 $

500

4,084,782 $
295,677
40,000
45,000
4,465,459 $
‐
‐
1,359,720
47,741
31,827
15,914
58,350
61,532
56,650
106,090
823,472
37,132
159,135
53,045
53,045
79,568
26,523
15,914
26,523
2,652
2,652
5,305
15,914
‐
50,000
47,982
3,136,686 $

$ 1,328,773

4,146,766
295,677
40,000
45,000
4,527,443
‐
‐
1,400,511
49,173
32,782
16,391
60,100
63,378
58,350
109,273
835,824
38,245
163,909
54,636
54,636
81,955
27,318
16,391
27,318
2,732
2,732
5,464
16,390
‐
60,000
49,051
3,226,559

$ 1,300,884

ENROLLMENT - HIGHLAND PREP

Grade
9
10
11
12
Total

Historic
2017-18 2018-19
81
123
95

81

218

2019-20
145
130
100
375

2020-21
125
150
130
95
500

Projected
2021-22 2022-23
120
120
140
120
140
140
120
140
520
520

2023-24
140
120
120
140
520

CHARTER SCHOOL LIQUIDITY STATEMENT
HIGHLAND PREP

2018
(Audit)
Cash & Equivalents
Operating Expenses
Days Cash On Hand

$

167,562
909,181
67 days

2019
(Projected)
$

486,943
1,723,599
103 days

Fiscal years Ended June 30,
2020
2021
2022
(Projected)
(Projected)
(Projected)
$ 1,162,683
2,514,644
169 days

2023
(Projected)

2024
(Projected)

$ 2,324,602 $ 3,653,379 $ 4,954,262 $ 6,235,977
3,054,622
3,136,686
3,226,560
3,308,645
278 days

425 days

560 days

688 days

DEBT RATING

Highland Prep (“HP”) does not have any existing debt, rated or non-rated. Based on current rating-agency
metrics, we anticipate HP might receive a rating from Standard and Poor’s of “BB” although there is no
guarantee of such a rating. Given that a “BB” rating does not indicate a significant savings over a nonrated transaction, HP is small in size and the debt request is also small, we do not anticipate that expending
the money for a rating would be beneficial for HP or the proposed bond transaction. HP requests that it
be permitted to save the cost of a rating and use those funds in the classroom.

OUTSTANDING DEBT

Highland Prep does not have any existing debt.

One North Wacker Drive
Suite 2000
Chicago, IL 60606
Phone:
Fax:

800-558-1776
414-978-6575

www.Ziegler.com

August 6, 2019
Credit Enhancement Eligibility Board
State of Arizona
1700 West Washington Street, Suite 503
Phoenix, AZ 85007
Dear Ms. Wallace and Board,
We are the engaged underwriter for Highland Prep and its proposed approximately $12 million
par bond issue.
We do not believe that Highland Prep will be well served by obtaining a bond rating on its 2019
bonds. In the current marketplace for charter bonds, the investors are becoming very
sophisticated in their credit analysis and are relying less and less on ratings. Where obtaining a
bond rating becomes important is in these situations:


If the school involved is issuing a larger par amount ($35 million or greater in one
issuance). On these larger financings, there may be a greater pool of investors involved.
These multiple parties may not have the time nor resources to devote to following the
credit, hence the rating can be helpful. Additionally, the ratings cost becomes far less
impactful, when spread out over the larger par amount.



Large CMO’s or EMO’s who have issued $100mm+ or more of debt. These entities are
generally regular bond market participants, and may have operations not only in Arizona,
but other States. Investors like ratings in these situations given the large dollar holdings
they may have in said systems. Again the cost of a rating spread out over this much debt
becomes a negligible cost. Finally, some of these large systems use their debt ratings for
other purposes, including corporate borrowing with banks and other entities. Such
entities also have full-time finance departments, able to easily handle the ongoing
surveillance required by the ratings agencies versus smaller stand-alone schools.



If the school involved clearly qualifies for an investment grade rating. There are certain
funds that can only invest in charter bond issues with an investment grade rating. In this
circumstance, it behooves the school involved to explore a rating because the lower
interest cost may be substantial, and outweigh the cost of the rating.

We do not believe the proposed Highland Prep financing fits into any of the rationales listed
above.
B.C. Ziegler and Company | Member SIPC & FINRA

Credit Enhancement Board
Page 2
August 6, 2019

While it is sometimes challenging to predict the exact letter grade that a rating agency would
apply to a charter school bond transaction, based upon the evaluation matrix used by Standard
& Poor’s, we believe the Highland Prep bond issue would fall into the “BB” category, based on
their 2018 medians below.

Highland Prep and FY 2018 S&P Medians *
Category
Waiting List as % of Enrollment
Student Retention Rate
Lease Adjusted MADS Coverage
Days Cash on Hand

"BBB-" S&P Median

"BB+" S&P Median

35.30%
91.50%
1.58x
146.8

18.50%
90.00%
1.38x
102

"BB" S&P Median
22.60%
87.00%
1.18x
72

"BB-" S&P Median
1.40%
86.00%
1.16x
53.1

2019 Highland Prep
29.80%
93.70%
1.14x
109

*Highland Prep numbers based on fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and proposed bond issue

While there is no guarantee that Highland Prep would be assigned a “BB” rating, we believe that
the key metrics of DSCR, DCOH, student wait list demand, and academic performance would
show very favorably. However, we would not be able to obtain an investment grade rating of
“BBB-” due to the fact that we do not have the requisite days cash on hand and debt service
coverage ratio, among other factors needed for that category.
Given the small size of this issue ($12mm) and the characteristics of the school, it does not fit
into any of the three categories noted above, where a rating provides significant benefit.
Nonetheless, we believe this credit to be a very good one that will move into the investment
grade category in the future.
They have demonstrated years of success with the academic model, and as a result have
meaningful wait-lists showing demand for the school. Further, the financial management of MHP
and HP have shown an ability to run their operations with fiscal acuity. All of this suggests an
excellent candidate for the Arizona Credit Enhancement Program.
We appreciate your consideration of this matter.
Thank you.
Sincerely,

Scott Rolfs
Managing Director

B.C. Ziegler and Company | Member SIPC & FINRA

ACADEMIC SUCCESS
Highland Prep is modeled after its sister school, Madison Highland Prep. Both charter schools were
founded by Dr. Kerry Clark and share certain common governance, management, academic and program
models. Each charter school fills a vital need of providing high-quality high-school education with a strong
STEM emphasis. The academic track record for each school is impressive as the chart below illustrates.

Year

State Letter Grade

AzMerit
ELA
Math

District
ELA
Math

State
ELA

Math

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP
2016

A

48%

52%

36%

37%

38%

38%

2017

A

65%

70%

37%

39%

39%

40%

2018

A

57%

59%

39%

40%

41%

41%

40%

41%

41%

HIGHLAND PREP
2018

1

Qualified A

78%

84%

39%

1) The State of Arizona did not assign Highland Prep an “A” letter grade in 2018 because Highland Prep was categorized as a
“new school,” but under the state’s rubric Highland Prep qualified for an “A” letter grade.



MHP is also just the 31st high school in the world to receive International STEM Certification.



MHP has received national ranking and recognition as one of America’s Best High Schools, in 2017,
2018, and 2019.



MHP received a Distinguished District Award from Project Lead the Way in 2017.



MHP has a 100% College and Career Readiness Rating from the ADE.



MHP has a 100% Graduation Rate for 2019 from the ADE.



MHP has a 100% 4-year College and University acceptance rate for 2019 (all 99 graduates were
accepted to one or more 4 year colleges or universities.)

CHARTER SCHOOL PERSONAL BENEFIT DISCLOSURE
HIGHLAND PREP
Highland Prep is an Arizona non-profit corporation that is not for profit or pecuniary gain and has no
capital stock or shares. No part of any earnings of HP inure to the benefit of, or are distributable to, any
officer or director of HP or any private individual or are appropriated for any purposes other than the
purposes of HP as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation; provided, however, that HP is authorized and
empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and
distributions in furtherance of the purposes of HP as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation.

FINANCIAL TIMELINE
I.

Timeline
DATE

EVENT

June 25

Hands on finance kick-off meeting at School at 9:00am to review schedule,
drafting responsibilities, etc.
Submit Application to AZ Credit Enhancement Board (Joint Application used)

June 26
July 16
July 31
August 1
August 8
August 12
August 15
August 20
August 27
September 17

Submit Application and other docs to Maricopa IDA Issuing Authority
Maricopa IDA Meeting (only one meeting for preliminary and final approval)
Meeting of the Maricopa County Board of Supervisors to approve IDA process
Ziegler to send out draft of PowerPoint for Credit Enhancement Board
Review Credit Enhancement Board PowerPoint
Final audit (or usable draft of audit) for Highland Prep available
Meeting of AZ Credit Enhancement Board
Print Preliminary Offering Document
Bond Pricing / Bond Purchase Agreement Signed
Close Bonds/Purchase Property (can toggle somewhat to fit School’s needs)

June 20

II. Proposed Source & Use of Funds

Sources
Proposed Bonds
Total Sources

$ 11,965,000
$ 11,965,000

Uses
Acquire Facility
$ 10,500,000
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment
250,000
Debt Service Reserve Fund
639,900
Cost of Issuance (Estimated)
575,100
Total Uses
$ 11,965,000

III. Schedule of Principal & Interest

Year Ended
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049*
Total

Principal

Coupon

255,000
260,000
270,000
280,000
290,000
300,000
310,000
315,000
330,000
340,000
350,000
360,000
375,000
385,000
395,000
410,000
425,000
440,000
450,000
465,000
480,000
495,000
515,000
530,000
545,000
565,000
585,000
1,245,000
11,965,000

3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%
3.00%

Interest
358,950.00
358,950.00
358,950.00
351,300.00
343,500.00
335,400.00
327,000.00
318,300.00
309,300.00
300,000.00
290,550.00
280,650.00
270,450.00
259,950.00
249,150.00
237,900.00
226,350.00
214,500.00
202,200.00
189,450.00
176,250.00
162,750.00
148,800.00
134,400.00
119,550.00
104,100.00
88,200.00
71,850.00
54,900.00
37,350.00
6,880,950.00

Debt Service
358,950.00
358,950.00
613,950.00
611,300.00
613,500.00
615,400.00
617,000.00
618,300.00
619,300.00
615,000.00
620,550.00
620,650.00
620,450.00
619,950.00
624,150.00
622,900.00
621,350.00
624,500.00
627,200.00
629,450.00
626,250.00
627,750.00
628,800.00
629,400.00
634,550.00
634,100.00
633,200.00
636,850.00
639,900.00
1,282,350.00
18,845,950.00

* Debt s ervi ce i n yea r 30 offs et by rel ea s e of debt s ervi ce res erve fund.

IV. Funding reserves
The proposed financing will have 1) a debt service reserve fund in the amount of one year’s maximum annual debt
service (approximately $640,000) and a 2) a repair and replacement fund in an amount to be determined.

V. Security for the financing
The proposed security will be a first-position lien on the property to be acquired with bond proceeds, the repair
and replacement fund and pledged revenues of Highland Prep. A debt service coverage ratio requirement of 1.10x
and a days’ cash on hand requirement of 45 days is anticipated.

VI. Members of financing team
1. Borrower’s Counsel: Warren Charter Law, PLC
2. Issuer: The Industrial Development Authority of the County of Maricopa
3. Bond Counsel: Engelman Berger, P.C.
4. Underwriter: B.C Ziegler and Company

USE OF GUARANTEED FINANCING

Highland Prep (“HP”) would like to formally ask the Credit Enhancement Eligibility Board (the “CEEB”) for approximately
$12 million in credit enhancement for an upcoming bond issue that will allow HP to purchase its existing charter-school
campus in Surprise, Arizona. We estimate the purchase price of the existing campus to be approximately $10.5 million. HP
currently leases its existing campus and would like to be able to secure ownership of the campus to allow for expanded
programs and services for its student body.
HP plans to use the guaranteed funds to purchase its existing campus, provide additional furniture and equipment for the
school, fund required reserve funds and pay certain costs related to the bond issuance. The estimated source and use of
the proposed bond issue is below.
Sources
Proposed Bonds
Total Sources

$ 11,965,000
$ 11,965,000

Uses
Acquire Facility
$ 10,500,000
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment
250,000
Debt Service Reserve Fund
639,900
Cost of Issuance (Estimated)
575,100
Total Uses
$ 11,965,000

By obtaining a substantially lower cost capital via the Arizona Public School Credit Enhancement Program (the
“Enhancement Program”) HP will be able to purchase its existing campus, stabalize its facilities expenses, financially
prepare for addditional classroom space on the campus*, provide additional staffing and programs and provide more
educational opportunities for Arizona students.
HP has engaged B.C. Ziegler and Company (“Ziegler”) to underwrite these bonds.


Any additional classroom space will be “phase 2” of the campus expansion program and will not be funded with
the guaranteed funds.

COLLATERAL PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

Highland Prep (“HP”) is currently leasing its charter-school facilities located at 15600 West Hearn Road, Surprise, Arizona
85379. Upon closing of the proposed financing, HP will own its existing charter-school facilities and HP will grant the
trustee a first-position lien against such charter school facilities and a pledge of its Arizona state equalization payments
as security for the debt. The summary report of a recent appraisal of the property is attached. The full appraisal can be
accessed at the dropbox location indicated in this application with the email GOE@az.gov.

AN APPRAISAL REPORT OF
AN EXISTING OWNER-OCCUPIED BY HIGHLAND PREP

LOCATED AT
15600 WEST HEARN ROAD
PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85042

PREPARED FOR
HIGHLAND PREP
15600 WEST HEARN ROAD
SURPRISE, AZ 85379
ATTN: KERRY CLARK
RELIANCE PARTIES
HIGHLAND PREP, AN ARIZONA NONPROFIT CORPORATION;
THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA;
B.C. ZIEGLER AND COMPANY;
WARREN CHARTER LAW, PLC;
ENGELMAN BERGER, P.C.;
BOKF, NA; AND
BOYER HP, LC.

PREPARED BY
KS APPRAISAL
1128 EAST GREENWAY STREET, SUITE 104
MESA, ARIZONA 85203
(480) 464-7800

July 9, 2019
Highland Prep
15600 West Hearn Road
Surprise, AZ 85379
Attn: Kerry Clark
Reliance Parties
Highland Prep, an Arizona nonprofit corporation;
The Industrial Development Authority of the County of Maricopa;
B.C. Ziegler and Company;
Warren Charter Law, PLC;
Engelman Berger, P.C.;
BOKF, NA; and
Boyer HP, LC.
Re:

An appraisal report of an existing 35,244 square foot building owner-occupied by Highland Prep,
located at 15600 West Hearn Road, Surprise, 85379.
KS Appraisal File No: 2019-0220

To whom it may concern:
At your request, I have inspected and appraisal of the above referenced real property. The date of
inspection and date of valuation June 26, 2019 and the date of this report is July 9, 2019. The object of
this investigation has been to estimate the following value:

 Market Value “as is” on the appraisal date based on the fee simple estate of the existing school
This value estimate is predicated upon the definition of value that is presented in the body of the report.
Based on the analysis contained in the following report, the market value of the subject property is
concluded as shown in the following table.

Appraisal Premise

Market Value “As Is”

VALUE CONCLUSIONS
Interest Appraised
Date of Value
Fee Simple Estate

June 26, 2019

Value Conclusion
$10,827,000

* Note this includes $254,000 attributed to Furniture, Fixtures and equipment (FF&E)

This opinion of value is based upon an estimated exposure period of 12 months or less. The estimated
value does not include any tangible or intangible personal property.

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved. I have not performed any services regarding the
subject property within the past three years, as an appraiser, or in any other capacity. This report
assumes that any undisclosed restrictions as may exist are typical for such properties, and do not conflict
either with the current use or highest and best use of the subject property.
The Client is Highland Prep. The Intended User is Highland Prep, an Arizona nonprofit corporation;
The Industrial Development Authority of the County of Maricopa; B.C. Ziegler and Company; Warren
Charter Law, PLC; Engelman Berger, P.C.; BOKF, NA; and Boyer HP, LC. with the Intended Use of loan
underwriting and-or credit decisions. This report may not be used for any other reason, nor is it
intended for use by any other entity than the party for which it was prepared. This report may not be
used for the sale of partial property interests (limited, general partnership, or syndication) unless
specifically authorized by the appraisers.

Extraordinary Assumption
The site sizes discussed and analyzed throughout the report are based on Maricopa County public
records. I assume that the legal descriptions obtained from the public records is correct.
The cost new for the equipment was provided to me and I did not receive a detail breakdown as to the
type and make of the furniture, fixtures and equipment. I have assumed the $254,000 is based on the
items stated in this report and are representative of cost new.
This appraisal has been prepared in conformity with the current requirements of the Appraisal
Foundation as set forth in the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP-2018/2019
Edition) and with the requirements of the federal bank regulating agencies.
This valuation is based upon the attached report and all the assumptions and limiting conditions
contained therein, including the understanding that I have no control of the utilization of this appraisal
by its subsequent readers. Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the By-laws
and Regulations of the Appraisal Institute. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report
(especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the appraiser, or the firm with which they are
connected) shall be disseminated to the public without prior written consent and approval of the
undersigned.
My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in
conformity with Title XI of the Federal Financial Institution Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of
1989 (FIRREA) and to the additional standards set forth by Section 304 of the FDIC Improvement Act of
1991 (FDICIA), the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as promulgated by the
Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation, and the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency (OCC). Certified

The narrative report that follows sets forth the data and analyses upon which my conclusions are based.
Sincerely,

Kurt D. Kleinman, MAI

Arizona Cert. General
Real Estate Appraiser No. 30272

TEACHER RETENTION

HIGHLAND PREP: TEACHER RETENTION



2017-2018: 80% (4 of 5 teachers returned for second year in operation)
2018-2019: 60% (5 of 11 teachers are returning for the third year of operation)

MADISON HIGHLAND PREP: TEACHER RETENTION



2017-2018: 80%
2018-2019: 83%

PARENT/TEACHER SURVEY RESULTS
Madison Highland Prep conducted a survey of parents, staff and students during the last two school years. The
results are on the following pages.

2017-2019 MHP Parent Surveys
Purpose and Direction
1. Our school’s purpose statement is clearly focused on student success.

2018-2019

2017-2018

4.72

4.72

2. Our school’s purpose statement is formally reviewed and revised with involvement from parents.

4.08

4.08

3. Our school has established goals and a plan for improving student learning.

4.49

4.49

4.43

4.43

Governance and Leadership
4. Our school’s governing body does not interfere with the operation or leadership of our school.

3.87

3.87

5. Our school has high expectations for students in all classes.

4.85

4.85

6. Our school shares responsibility for student learning with its stakeholders.

4.33

4.33

7. Our school communicates effectively about the school’s goals and activities.

4.10

4.10

8. Our school provides opportunities for stakeholders to be involved in the school.

4.18

4.18

4.27

4.27

Teaching and Assessing for Learning
9. All of my child’s teachers provide an equitable curriculum that meets his/her learning needs.

4.33

4.33

10. All of child’s teachers give work that challenges my child.

4.59

4.59

11. All of my child’s teachers use a variety of teaching strategies and learning activities.

4.26

4.26

12. All of my child’s teachers meet his/her learning needs by individualizing instruction.

4.10

4.10

13. All of my child’s teachers help me to understand my child’s progress.

3.97

3.97

14. All of my child’s teachers keep me informed regularly of how my child is being graded.

3.82

3.82

15. My child sees a relationship between what is being taught and his/her everyday life.

4.13

4.13

16. My child knows the expectations for learning in all classes.

4.69

4.69

17. My child has at least one adult advocate in the school.

4.08

4.08

18. My child is given multiple assessments to measure his/her understanding of what was taught.

4.26

4.26

19. My child has up to date computers and other technology to learn.

4.67

4.67

20. My child has access to support services based on his/her identified needs.

4.26

4.26

4.26

4.26

Score

Score

Score
Resources and Support Systems
21. Our school provides qualified staff members to support student learning.

4.33

4.33

22. Our school provides an adequate supply of learning resources that are current and in good condition.

4.41

4.41

23. Our school provides a safe learning environment.

4.74

4.74

24. Our school provides excellent support services (e.g., counseling, and/or career planning).

3.97

3.97

25. Our school provides opportunities for students to participate in activities interest them.

4.51

4.51

26. Our school ensures that the facilities support student learning.

4.46

4.46

27. Our school ensures that instructional time is protected and interruptions are minimized.

4.33

4.33

4.40

4.40

Using Results for Continuous Improvement
28. Our school ensures that all staff members monitor and report the achievement of school goals.

Score

4.26

4.26

29. My child is prepared for success in the next school year.

4.51

4.51

30. My child has administrators and teachers that monitor and inform me of his/her learning progress.

4.10

4.10

4.29

4.29

Score

2017-2019 MHP Staff Surveys
2018-2019

2017-2018

1. Our school’s purpose statement is clearly focused on student success.

4.59

4.41

2. Our school’s purpose statement is based on shared values and beliefs that guide decision making.

4.41

4.23

3. Our school has a continuous improvement process based on data, goals, actions, and measures for growth.

4.48

4.41

4. Our school’s governing body or school board complies with all policies, procedures, laws, and regulations.

4.19

3.95

5. Our school’s school board maintains a distinction between its roles and responsibilities and those of school leadership.

4.11

4.00

4.36

4.20

6. Our school’s leaders support an innovative and collaborative culture.

4.33

4.00

7. Our school’s leaders expect staff members to hold all students to high academic standards.

4.37

4.36

8. Our school’s leadership hold themselves accountable for student learning.

3.96

4.00

9. Our school’s leaders hold all staff members accountable for student learning.

4.33

4.45

10. Our school’s leaders regularly evaluate staff members on criteria designed to improve teaching and learning.

4.56

4.36

11. Our school’s leaders ensure all staff members use supervisory feedback to improve student learning.

4.37

4.27

12. Our school’s leaders engage effectively with all stakeholders about the school‘s purpose and direction.

3.93

3.91

4.26

4.19

13. All teachers in our school monitor and adjust curriculum, instruction, and assessment based on data from student assessments and examination practice.

4.37

4.00

14. All teachers in our school personalize instructional strategies and interventions to address individual learning needs of students.

4.26

3.91

15. All teachers in our school regularly use instructional strategies that require student collaboration, self-reflection, and development of thinking skills.

4.37

4.00

16. All teachers in our school use a process to inform students of their learning expectations and standards of performance.

4.52

4.05

17. All teachers in our school provide students with specific and timely feedback about their learning.

4.11

3.82

18. All teachers in our school use multiple types of assessments to modify instruction and to revise the curriculum.

4.44

3.86

19. All teachers in our school participate in collaborative learning communities that meet both informally and formally across levels and content areas.

4.26

4.00

20. All teachers in our school have been trained to implement a formal process that promotes discussion about student learning.

4.37

3.95

21. In our school, challenging curriculum and learning experiences provide equity for all students in the development of learning, thinking, and life skills.

4.30

4.18

22. In our school, related learning support services are provided for all students based on their needs.

4.48

4.32

23. In our school, a formal structure exists so that each student is well known by at least one advocate in the school who supports that student’s educational experience.

4.33

4.14

24. In our school, a formal process is in place to support new staff members in professional practice.

4.33

4.14

25. In our school, all staff members participate in continuous professional learning based on identified needs of the school.

4.22

4.27

26. In our school, a professional learning program is designed to build capacity among all professional and support staff members.

4.11

4.32

27. In our school, all school personnel regularly engage families in their children’s learning progress.

4.26

4.09

28. In our school, all stakeholders are informed of policies, processes, procedures related to grading and reporting.

4.11

4.18

4.30

4.08

29. Our school provides instructional time and resources to support our school’s goals and priorities.

4.44

3.95

30. Our school provides sufficient material resources to meet student needs.

4.56

4.14

31. Our school provides protected instructional time.

4.19

4.05

32. Our school provides a variety of information resources to support student learning.

4.56

4.41

33. Our school provides high quality student support services (e.g., counseling, referrals, educational, and career planning).

4.15

4.00

34. Our school provides opportunities for students to participate in activities that interest them.

4.52

4.45

35. Our school maintains facilities that support student learning.

4.44

4.36

36. Our school maintains facilities that contribute to a safe environment

4.44

4.50

4.41

4.23

37. Our school uses multiple assessment measures to determine student learning and school performance.

4.33

4.32

38. Our school has a systematic process for collecting, analyzing, and using data.

4.48

4.59

39. Our school ensures all staff members are trained in the evaluation, interpretation, and use of data.

4.41

4.32

40. Our school uses data to monitor student readiness and success at the next level.

4.52

4.45

41. Our school leaders monitor data related to student achievement.

4.56

4.55

42. Our school leaders monitor data related to school continuous improvement goals.

4.52

4.55

4.47

4.46

Purpose and Direction

Score
Governance and Leadership

Score
Teaching and Assessing for Learning

Score
Resources and Support Systems

Score
Using Results for Continuous Improvement

Score

2017-2019 MHP Student Surveys
Purpose and Direction

2018-2019

2017-2018

1. In my school, programs and services are available to help me succeed.

3.97

3.96

2. In my school, the purpose and expectations are clearly explained to me and my family.

3.96

3.97

3. In my school, a high quality education is offered.

4.00

3.92

4. In my school, all students are treated with respect.

3.20

3.17

5. In my school, teachers work together to improve student learning.

3.74

3.60

3.77

3.73

6. In my school, rules are applied equally to all students.

3.13

3.03

7. In my school, students treat adults with respect.

3.30

3.24

8. In my school, the principal and teachers have high expectations of me.

4.30

4.28

3.58

3.52

9. My school gives me multiple assessments to check my understanding of what was taught.

4.07

4.17

10. My school provides me with challenging curriculum and learning experiences.

4.07

4.09

11. My school motivates me to learn new things.

3.54

3.46

12. My school offers opportunities for my family to become involved in school activities and my learning.

3.17

3.30

13. My school makes sure there is at least one adult who knows me well and shows interest in my education and future.

3.43

3.21

14. All of my teachers use a variety of teaching methods and learning activities to help me develop the skills I will need to succeed.

3.70

3.57

15. All of my teachers change their teaching to meet my learning needs.

3.06

3.04

16. All of my teachers explain their expectations for learning and behavior so I can be successful.

3.81

3.82

17. All of my teachers use tests, projects, presentations, and portfolios to check my understanding of what was taught.

4.18

4.05

18. All of my teachers provide me with information about my learning and grades.

3.72

3.61

19. All of my teachers keep my family informed of my academic progress.

3.33

3.33

20. All of my teachers fairly grade and evaluate my work.

3.48

3.71

3.63

3.61

21. In my school, the building and grounds are safe, clean, and provide a healthy place for learning.

3.64

3.63

22. In my school, students respect the property of others.

3.07

3.01

23. In my school, a variety of resources are available to help me succeed (e.g., teaching staff, technology, and media center).

3.84

3.86

24. In my school, computers are up ‐to‐date and used by teachers to help me learn.

3.76

3.80

25. In my school, students help each other even if they are not friends.

3.24

3.08

26. In my school, I can participate in activities that interest me.

3.93

3.86

27. In my school, I have access to counseling, career planning, and other programs to help me in school.

3.63

3.32

3.59

3.51

Score
Governance and Leadership

Score
Teaching and Assessing for Learning

Score
Resources and Support Systems

Score
Using Results for Continuous Improvement
28. My school shares information about school success with my family and community members.

3.48

3.39

29. My school considers students’ opinions when planning ways to improve the school.

2.89

3.22

3.98

3.88

3.45

3.49

30. My school prepares me for success in the next school year.
Score

OMORROW’S

STEM I NNOVATORS

EADERS

August 6, 2019
Credit Enhancement Eligibility Board
State of Arizona
1700 West Washington Street, Suite 503
Phoenix, AZ 85007
Dear Ms. Wallace and Board,
Our response to your specific question regarding a bond rating is in the attached separate letters as
requested. Below are responses to your other questions:
Q: Our application requires three years of audited financial statements to determine financial health
of the charter system. We understand that this school is new, however, one year of financial
statements is not sufficient to determine a trend of financial solvency. Are there any other
documents you can provide that will assist the Board in ensuring that you meet the eligibility
requirement of the program related to a sound financial plan?
Please find attached the 2019 financial audit for Highland Prep (“HP”). We did not submit this audit in
the initial application as it was just completed this week. Please also find attached the 2017-2019 audits
for Madison Highland Prep (“MHP”) which also demonstrate a trend of financial solvency and good
budgetary practices. As we noted in the application, MHP is HP’s sister school and founded and
operated by the same management, hence the same financial management and practices.
Q: How many seats does Highland Prep's leased facility in Surprise permit for enrollment currently?
The building we are seeking to purchase can accommodate up to 520 students under our academic
model, which tracks with our initial enrollment goals.
Q: Are you seeing more growth as a result of students maturing through grade levels since they are
relatively new or from new enrollment in the system?
There are a couple ways of answering this question. If the question relates to enrollment, we are seeing
students move up through our system by grade, starting at grade 9, and we are also seeing demand
from new students wishing to enroll starting the higher grades. Most of our growth in enrollment,
however, comes from students moving up through our system.
As it relates to academic growth, MHP and HP evaluate Student Growth Percentile and Student Growth
to Target using state assessments in English Language Arts and Mathematics. Student Growth
Percentile (SGP) measures students with growth at or above their academic peers in the state. Student
SCIENCE • TECHNOLOGY • ENGINEERING • MATHEMATICS
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Growth to Target represents students with growth necessary to be proficient or highly proficient in ELA
11 and Algebra II.
The data available for both schools is provided below.
Madison Highland Prep
Year

2018

2017

ELA

Math

ELA

Math

SGP1

74.1%

86.2%

83.3%

83.2%

SGT2

75.5%

63.5%

75.2%

79.0%

1SGT
2SGP

% represents students with growth at or above their academic peers.
% represents students with growth necessary to be proficient in ELA 11 and Algebra II.

Highland Prep
Year

2018
ELA

Math

SGP1

93.0%

93.9%

SGT2

85.9%

78.9%

1SGT
2SGP

% represents students with growth at or above their academic peers.
% represents students with growth necessary to be proficient in ELA 11 and Algebra II.

Additionally, MHP and HP evaluate growth using SAT Exam assessments in Reading & Writing and
Mathematics that meet or exceed state-defined competencies. SAT Growth represents the students
that scored a 480 or higher on the SAT Reading & Writing assessment and scored a 530 or higher on the
SAT Mathematics assessment. The data available for MHP is provided below. Data for HP will be
available for the 2020 school year, the first school year in which students will be assessed in the SAT
Exam.
Madison Highland Prep
Year

2018

SAT Exam
1R&W
1Math

2017

R&W1

Math2

R&W1

Math2

66.7%

41.4%

43.5%

30.6%

% represents students that scored a 480 or higher on the SAT Reading & Writing assessment, the state-defined competency.
% represents students with scored a 530 or higher on the SAT Mathematics assessment, the state-defined competency.
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Q: How will this financing influence the 115 currently on your waitlist?
The assumed cost savings provided by the credit enhancement will operationally allow us to facilitate
the 12th grade fully functional, and all of the teaching staff and equipment required, which could absorb
the 115 students on the waitlist. In addition, the credit enhancement could provide cash savings and
debt capacity to potentially expand the building on a much faster timetable, allowing for more student
capacity.
Q: Please submit a proposed timeline for "Phase 2" which identifies plans and potential cost for
classroom expansion at the Surprise facility, once it is owned as a result of credit enhancement?
The site we are purchasing was completed in August of 2018. As part of the master plan, a building pad
(with utilities stubbed-in) was created to more easily allow for future expansion. The Phase II would be a
7,500 square foot addition to the current building that would allow us to enroll an additional 100
students to meet future demand. Under current cost estimates of $140 per square foot, we’d estimate
the cost of the expansion at $1,050,000. The savings from credit enhancement of our bonds would
arguably allow us to cash finance this expansion within the next three years.
Q:

How much will Highland Prep save in rent costs annually as a result of credit enhancement? Please
indicate how these savings will be invested? If not for future classroom expansion, for what
purpose?

The current annual rent for our building is approximately $800,000 per year. Utilizing the Credit
Enhancement, our projected maximum annual debt service is $640,000, thus saving us $160,000 per
year. If we do not obtain the credit enhancement, an annual bond payment might approximate
$850,000 per year. Thus the enhancement not only saves us versus the lease cost, but also more than
$200,000 per year with an unenhanced bond issue. Again, these savings can be plowed back into the
classroom or, alternatively, allow us to move ahead with the Phase II addition.
Q:

Please submit a list of all non-capital (equipment/supplies) that will be purchased with remaining
funds from credit enhancement financing after the facility is purchased?

We do not anticipate expenditures for non-capital equipment or supplies from the credit-enhanced
bond issue. All monies will be used to purchase the current building and add some additional capital
equipment.
Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,
Kerry Clark
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